
 

 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 
Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 5 Tŷ Hywel  

a fideo gynadledda drwy Zoom 

Dyddiad: 17 Medi 2025 

Amser: 09.30

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Sarah Beasley 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddIechyd@senedd.cymru
------ 

Rhag-gyfarfod preifat  

(9.00-9.30) 

Cyfarfod cyhoeddus  

(9.30-11.00) 

1 Cyflwyniadau, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

(9.30)   

2 Ymchwiliad i ddyfodol meddygaeth deulu yng Nghymru: sesiwn 

dystiolaeth 

(9.30-11.00) (Tudalennau 1 - 53)  

Yn bresennol - i'w gadarnhau - Cymdeithas Feddygol Prydain (Cymru) 

Dr Rowena Christmas, Coleg Brenhinol yr Ymarferwyr Cyffredinol (RCGP) 

Cymru 

Dr Tom Kneale, Cyn-Gadeirydd cyfadran Gogledd Cymru Coleg Brenhinol yr 

Ymarferwyr Cyffredinol 

 

Briff ymchwil 

Papur 1 – Coleg Brenhinol yr Ymarferwyr Cyffredinol Cymru 

Papur 2 – Cymdeithas Feddygol Prydain (Cymru) 

 

3 Papurau i'w nodi 

(11.00)   

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



 

 

3.1 Gwybodaeth ychwanegol gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal 

Cymdeithasol ynghylch yr ymchwiliad i Wasanaethau Offthalmoleg yng 

Nghymru 

 (Tudalennau 54 - 57)  

3.2 Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deisebau ynghylch deiseb: P-06-1512 – 

Galw ar Lywodraeth Cymru i gydnabod a mynd i’r afael â’r argyfwng 

deintyddol sy’n wynebu cleifion yng Nghymru 

 (Tudalen 58)  

3.3 Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deisebau ynghylch deiseb: P-06-1528 - 

Dylid atal cleifion o Bowys a gaiff eu trin mewn ysbytai dros y ffin yn Lloegr 

rhag wynebu amseroedd aros hwy 

 (Tudalennau 59 - 60)  

3.4 Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deisebau ynghylch deiseb: P-06-1488 – 

Sefydlu ‘Cymdeithas Gofal’ i Fynd i’r Afael â’r Argyfwng COVID Hir yng 

Nghymru 

 (Tudalen 61)  

3.5 Llythyr gan Gadeirydd Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal 

Cymdeithasol at Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deiseb ynghylch deiseb: P-06-1240 – 

Gwella gwasanaethau iechyd i bobl ag epilepsi sy'n byw yng Nghymru 

 (Tudalennau 62 - 63)  

3.6 Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deisebau ynghylch deiseb: P-06-1505 – 

Adolygu Fformiwla Carr Hill yng Nghymru - y system ariannu ar gyfer gofal 

sylfaenol 

 (Tudalennau 64 - 65)  

3.7 Tystiolaeth atodol gan Marie Curie ynghylch y Memorandwm Cydsyniad 

Deddfwriaethol ar y Bil Oedolion Terfynol Sâl (Diwedd Oes) (Saesneg yn unig) 

 (Tudalennau 66 - 69)  

3.8 Ymateb gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol i 

Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a'r Cyfansoddiad ynghylch 

ymweliad â Charchar y Parc ym mis Mehefin 2025 

 (Tudalennau 70 - 71)  



 

 

4 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 (ix) i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod 

(11.00)   

Cyfarfod preifat  

(11.00-11:15) 

5 Ymchwiliad i ddyfodol meddygaeth deulu yng Nghymru: trafod y 

dystiolaeth 

(11.00-11.15)   



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2



www.senedd.cymru | www.senedd.wales 

Cyflwynwyd yr ymateb i ymgynghoriad y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol ar 
dyfodol ymarfer cyffredinol yng Nghymru 

This response was submitted to the Health and Social Care Committee consultation on 
the future of general practice in Wales 

GP38 : Ymateb gan: Coleg Brenhinol y Meddygon Cyffredinol | Response from: Royal 
College of General Practitioners 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

HSC(6) 60-25 Papur 1/Paper 1 

Tudalen y pecyn 7

https://senedd.cymru/pwyllgorau/y-pwyllgor-iechyd-a-gofal-cymdeithasol/
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45057
https://senedd.wales/committee/737
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45057


1 

Inquiry into the future of general practice in Wales 

A written evidence submission from the 

Royal College of General Practitioners 

Tudalen y pecyn 8



2 

“There are 1.6 million GP appointments every month in Wales, which is more than half 
the population equivalent.”  

- Eluned Morgan MS, First Minister, FMQs 4/2/25

“The hospital sector sucks the resources from the health service, yet 9 out of 10 
contacts between the individual and the health service happen in primary care, in your 
GP surgery. 9 out of 10. But the money is nothing like that. The money is sucked into the 
hospital sector because it is so expensive to run.”  

- Mark Drakeford MS, Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh Language, For Wales
See Wales, 23/01/25 

“Put an extra GP in every single practice, and I assure you that will be a better use of 
taxpayers’ money than putting it into a hospital.”  

- Dr Adrian Hayter, RCGP Medical Director for Clinical Policy

Tudalen y pecyn 9



3 
 

 

Introduction 

RCGP Cymru Wales welcomes the opportunity to contribute to this inquiry and applauds 
the committee for placing its focus on general practice. However, the scope of the inquiry 
presents a challenge in itself.  

Our approach has been to set out a broad overview of the challenges, the opportunity 
which exists for general practice to play a pivotal role in alleviating pressure elsewhere 
in the NHS and then to consider each of the points noted in the call for evidence. 

We hope that there will be interest in speaking to GPs about the topics mentioned and 
would be happy to suggest potential witnesses to the committee with relevant 
specialisms, for example on tackling health inequalities or GP retention. 

Overall, we hope that this submission is the start of a constructive dialogue with the 
Committee, and we would welcome on-going engagement during this inquiry. 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 10



4 
 

A picture of decline 

The stark truth is that general practice is in crisis. In 2002, GPs worked across 516 
practices in Wales. By the start of the pandemic in 2020, there were 404 practices. Today, 
just 374 GP practices remain. There are many factors contributing to this decline, but at 
its core is the lack of a plan for a sustainable general practice service for patients.   

In the last year, we have started to see the number of full-time equivalent GPs increase 
and we hope this will continue but it is against a backdrop of a shortage of capacity which 
is leading to excessive pressure on the workforce. Furthermore, the relatively small 
increase is from a starting point which was calculated by the BMA to represent an existing 
shortfall of 664 GPs in comparison to the OECD EU average.  

Each year, RCGP surveys its members. In 2024: 

• 58% of respondents felt that their mental wellbeing had declined while working as 
a GP over the last 12 months   

• 37% of respondents felt they were ‘unlikely’ to still be working in general practice 
in five years’ time  

• 64% of respondents said a reduction in their administrative workload would be 
likely to retain them in general practice for longer  

• 83% of respondents felt that patient safety is being compromised by excessive 
workload  

• 57% of respondents said that their practice requires additional works to improve 
or upgrade the premises to meet practice/patient needs  

• 65% of respondents disagree that they have enough time to adequately assess 
and treat patients during appointments.   

There will always be a need for family doctors and for general practice, but what form it 
takes is open to question. 

If the role is sustainably funded through the NHS, it will become the public service we 
need, offering quality care for patients, managing acute and chronic illness, with the 
essential capacity needed for preventive care. If it is not, then market forces will demand 
that the baton be picked up by the private sector and general practice will become more 
like private dentistry. This will inevitably widen health inequalities across the nation. 

This is not a fanciful suggestion of a dystopian future. Already services which were once 
provided by NHS GPs are increasingly managed by private practices for those patients 
who can afford them. Examples include minor operations, joint injections, freezing warts, 
syringing ears, and spirometry. 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 11



5 
 

A reason for optimism 

However, the frustration within general practice is not simply that the workload is 
unsustainable, it is that with proper resourcing general practice could be a saviour of the 
wider NHS. The GP Voice Survey noted above also found that 74% of respondents felt 
that their practice could alleviate pressure from hospitals if it had more staff/resources. 

Research has shown that every £1 spent on funding general practice saves £3 of hospital 
costs1. There is an additional financial benefit if early treatment enables the patient to 
remain economically active. The NHS Confederation found that for every additional £1 
spent on primary or community care, there was scope to increase economic output by 
£142.  

We believe that general practice offers a vital opportunity to resolve long-standing and 
recurring challenges within the health service.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
1 https://www.bmj.com/content/387/bmj.q2295 
2 https://www.nhsconfed.org/news/extra-investment-out-hospital-care-can-reap-billions-wider-
economy 

Tudalen y pecyn 12



6 
 

Point-by-point 

The future of general practice is wide-ranging topic upon which there is much to say. We 
have sought to focus on the key issues related to each of the points proposed by the 
Committee in their briefing for the consultation. Nonetheless, we  hope that there will be 
opportunities during the Committee’s hearings to expand upon these points and, where 
appropriate, thread them together into a wider narrative of the role general practice can 
play. 

• Challenges threatening the sustainability of general practice, including: 
 
o the funding model for general practice and current financial pressures 

It is impossible to address the decisions taken by the Welsh Government without 
acknowledging the fundamental issues which exist with the Barnett Formula. A 
calculation based on the health needs of the people of England is never going to 
adequately address the health challenges within Wales. In addition, irrespective of the 
calculation, the delay of payment of a Barnett consequential until the next block grant is 
accentuating the inequality between the English and Welsh NHS. 

Not withstanding the problems of the devolved funding settlement, we believe that 
decision-making over funding by the Welsh Government has failed to match the rhetoric 
of a shift of resources towards primary and preventive care. The pressures facing general 
practice are rarely as headline-grabbing as the publication of an eye-wateringly long, 
condition-specific waiting list or a queue of ambulances outside a hospital. Nonetheless, 
these issues in secondary care are often the symptoms of deep-rooted ailment in the 
system. 

The frustration is that the case for shifting investment into primary and preventive care is 
no longer contentious. Research has shown that every £1 spent on funding general 
practice saves £3 of hospital costs 3 . There is an additional financial benefit if early 
treatment enables the patient to remain economically active. The NHS Confederation 
found that for every additional £1 spent on primary or community care, there was scope 
to increase economic output by £144. 

We accept that the benefits of investing in general practice today will take time to 
manifest in secondary care. That means in the short term there would need to be an 
increase in NHS spending. However, it would be focused and designed to deliver longer 
term savings to the health service and to the productive economy more generally. 

o the efficacy of different models for managing general practice 

 
3 https://www.bmj.com/content/387/bmj.q2295  
4 https://www.nhsconfed.org/news/extra-investment-out-hospital-care-can-reap-billions-wider-
economy  

Tudalen y pecyn 13

https://www.bmj.com/content/387/bmj.q2295
https://www.nhsconfed.org/news/extra-investment-out-hospital-care-can-reap-billions-wider-economy
https://www.nhsconfed.org/news/extra-investment-out-hospital-care-can-reap-billions-wider-economy


7 
 

RCGP has 55,800 members in total and 2,100 in Wales. Among those members you will 
find GP partners, salaried GPs working for health boards and for general practice at scale 
business models, you will also find private sector GPs. The College seeks to do its best 
to represent all members and thus we do not have a set preference for a model of general 
practice. 

Notwithstanding this stance, there are observations which we hope will benefit the 
Committee’s deliberations. 

GP partnership is still delivering excellent value for money. The model also allows for a 
nimbleness of planning by the partners. However, there are real challenges around 
premises liability and the ‘last person standing’ scenario in which only one partner is left 
after colleagues leave the partnership. It could also be noted that the NHS is over-reliant 
on partners working above and beyond the expected hours of a salaried GP without 
remuneration. 

Our survey data in recent years has suggested that there is a desire among GPs to 
become partners but a lack of expectation that they will have that opportunity. With this 
in mind, RCGP has teamed up with the North Wales Primary Care Academy to deliver a 
Pathway to Partnership programme to help GPs develop the non-clinical skills required 
for partnership5. This is currently in its first year and we hope will be a scheme which will 
grow. 

General practice at scale has come under political and media scrutiny in recent months. 
There are concerns about how such a model is implemented, but we would caution 
against ‘throwing the baby out with the bathwater’. There is value in combining back-
office functions and having scope to share medical professionals between different 
locations thus creating a more robust system than can adapt when a GP or member of 
their team is unavailable to work. 

We think it important that relationship-based care is not lost in an at scale practice and 
that there is a contingency in place should the at scale business fail because its potential 
impact on patients would be multiples of that of a smaller practice closing. We note with 
interest the Northumbria Primary Care not-for-profit at scale model.  

o the suitability and maintenance of general practice estates and access to 
digital technology 

General practice estates are at breaking point. Some are in urgent need of modernisation, 
while others are relatively modern but cannot keep pace with the growth of the multi-
disciplinary team requirements for space, and the needs of trainees who will be our next 

 
5 https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/gps-from-across-north-wales-invited-4zxpe/ 

Tudalen y pecyn 14



8 
 

generation of NHS colleagues and family doctors. Future general practice estate 
development should consider energy efficiency and environmental sustainability. 

Premises are a considerable cost and concern to GPs. A lease or mortgage is funded 
indirectly by the NHS, but it is the partner who is liable. This can create a significant 
financial challenge if their practice becomes unviable, a particular stress faced by 
partners in the ‘last person standing’ scenario where they are the final GP after others 
have left the partnership. In addition, a potential new partner could be discouraged by 
having to take out a loan to buy in to the practice. RCGP Cymru Wales believes that there 
should be an opt-in central general practice estates body which would hold the liability 
of the buildings, leases and mortgages centrally. This would make partnership a more 
appealing option for GPs. No GP should be obliged to join the scheme, but we believe it 
would be an attractive option to many. 

Wales has been behind the curve on the adoption of technology in general practice and 
the wider NHS. Work on the NHS Wales app only seemed to begin after a similar product 
had been available in England for a couple of years. There remain outstanding questions 
about how usable it will really be for patients from a general practice perspective. There 
was a similar late-adopter approach to e-prescribing, the progress of which has been 
welcome but now seems to be dragging, and also digital shared patient records. 

It has to be acknowledged that digital appointment booking is a function patients 
understandably expect in an environment in which so many services are just a few clicks 
away. To triage patients effectively using such a system requires adequate resourcing. 

• The general practice workforce, including workforce planning, the recruitment 
of new staff into general practice, the retention of experienced staff, staff 
workload and wellbeing, training and continuing professional development, and 
the growth of the multidisciplinary team 

The College would like to place on record our gratitude for the comprehensive 
engagement which took place during the preparation of the Strategic Workforce Plan for 
Primary Care6. Our concern, however,  would be that while the themes and direction of 
travel are to be welcomed, there is a lack of clarity over numbers per profession. 

There is widespread support for the multi-disciplinary team in general practice. This 
structure allows patients to see the most appropriate professional in the most efficient 
way. It also creates a learning environment which is to the benefit of all members of the 
practice team. 

Unfortunately, without clear numbers, it also opens the door to fears of providing general 
practice ‘on the cheap’. Wales already lacks the number of GPs that patients require. 

 
6 https://heiw.nhs.wales/workforce/strategic-workforce-plan-for-primary-care/swppcsummary2024/ 

Tudalen y pecyn 15



9 
 

How can we audit the improvement in this situation if there is not a stated ambition to 
reach a specific number of GPs proportionate to the needs of the community? 

The College applauds the excellent work of Wales’ medical schools in developing the 
next generation of GPs and their colleagues. However, we have recently seen a marked 
shortage of GP positions being available. This is because of financial decisions taken 
both by the Welsh Government regarding general practice funding and the UK 
Government in regard to changes to National Insurance, meaning that practices are 
unable to afford to employ them. To have a shortage of GPs and a shortage of jobs for 
GPs is a government policy failing which is adversely affecting patients. 

GP retention remains a major challenge. Our GP Voice survey shows that 37% of GPs in 
Wales do not expect to be working in the profession in 5 years' time. For some this is 
linked to retirement, but that was only the third highest response following, ‘I find general 
practice too stressful’ and ‘I have to work too many hours in general practice’ 
demonstrating the acute workload pressure. 

• The patient experience of general practice, including equitable access to care, 
effective management of patient demand, the quality of care, and public trust in 
the services provided. 

A figure equivalent to more than half the population of Wales, is seeking a GP 
appointment every month. Management of this is inevitably a challenge and one which 
would benefit from increased resourcing. The National Survey for Wales for 2021-22 
recorded that 59% of respondents were very satisfied with the care they received in 
general practice and a further 27% fairly satisfied7. This question was not included in the 
2022-23 survey and thus is the most up to date available. While the College would not 
wish to be complacent, it is encouraging to see strong levels of satisfaction. However, 
we also note that initially accessing a convenient appointment was regarded by a third of 
respondents as difficult. 

RCGP Cymru Wales welcomes measures which have been taken to recognise the 
importance of continuity of care within the GMS contract. This is a step in the right 
direction to a general practice which values delivering quality care for patients. The time 
constraint imposed by 10-minute consultations mean that GPs increasingly need to be 
reactive, treating the immediate symptoms presented to them, rather than having the 
time to focus on potentially deeper-rooted causes. It can also prevent GPs from 
proactively addressing important preventive topics such as diet and lifestyle advice, 
gambling concerns, domestic abuse or supporting patients with smoking cessation.  

This was echoed by results of our 2024 GP Voice survey. When asked whether there is 
enough time during appointments to build the patient relationship needed to deliver 

 
7 https://www.gov.wales/national-survey-wales-results-viewer 

Tudalen y pecyn 16



10 
 

quality care, 57% of our members disagreed. Furthermore, 65% of members felt that they 
do not have enough time during appointments to adequately assess and treat patients.  

RCGP welcomes recent work with Welsh Government and the British Medical 
Association General Practitioners Committee to develop a Continuity of Care Quality 
Improvement measure.  Continuity of Care refers to the consistent and seamless 
provision of healthcare services to a patient over time. Patient outcomes are enhanced 
by the development of trust, mutual respect and co-production with their clinician. 
Continuity of care also leads to a better understanding of the patient’s ideas, 
expectations, and family circumstances. Patients who benefit from seeing the same GP 
over time are less likely to attend hospital whether that be acutely in the emergency 
department, or to see a secondary care consultant in outpatients, thus reducing waiting 
lists. GPs who offer this care have greater job satisfaction and make fewer mistakes. It is 
an effective means of improving the quality of care delivered, for a lower overall cost. 
Practices multidisciplinary teams will be asked to work and learn together to develop 
adaptations to strengthen the continuity of care through quality improvement initiatives 
and to maintain accountability through regular Quality Improvement updates, reporting 
to clusters and health boards. 

• Opportunities to improve general practice to make it fit for the future and take a 
more preventative approach to care. 

Much of the narrative of Welsh Government has focused on a shift in resources towards 
primary and preventive care, however, there appears to be a disparity between what is 
written and what is occurring in terms of funding. A queue of ambulances waiting outside 
a hospital or a publication of eye-wateringly high waiting list numbers are always more 
likely to drive headlines and thus the political agenda, rather than tackling the root 
causes. In this instance, the problems and pressures of secondary care are the 
symptoms of a condition which can be alleviated through a well-resourced general 
practice. 

The proportion of the NHS budget allocated to general practice in Wales has been 
decreasing for more than a decade. This decreased funding has been catastrophic, 
especially when one considers that 90% of all NHS patient encounters occur in primary 
care.   

Again, we accept that the benefits of investing in general practice today will take time to 
manifest in secondary care. That means in the short term there would need to be an 
increase in NHS spending. However, it would be focused and designed to deliver longer 
term savings to the health service and to the productive economy more generally. 

A sustainably resourced general practice is good for the patient, the wider NHS and the 
Welsh taxpayer. 

Tudalen y pecyn 17



www.senedd.cymru | www.senedd.wales 

Cyflwynwyd yr ymateb i ymgynghoriad y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol ar 
dyfodol ymarfer cyffredinol yng Nghymru 

This response was submitted to the Health and Social Care Committee consultation on 
the future of general practice in Wales 

GP34 : Ymateb gan: BMA Cymru Wales  | Response from: BMA Cymru Wales 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

HSC(6) 60-25 Papur 2/ Paper 2 

Tudalen y pecyn 18

https://senedd.cymru/pwyllgorau/y-pwyllgor-iechyd-a-gofal-cymdeithasol/
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45057
https://senedd.wales/committee/737
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45057


 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

 

 

  

Senedd Cymru Health and 
Social Care Committee 
inquiry: The future of 
general practice in Wales 
 
 

Response by BMA Cymru Wales 
 

27 March 2025 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 19



  
 

Page 2 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

Contents 

 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 3 

1) Challenges threatening the sustainability of general practice, including: ............................. 3 

a) The funding model for general practice and current financial pressures,................. 3 

b) the efficacy of different models for managing general practice, ............................ 12 

c) the suitability and maintenance of general practice estates and access to digital 
technology; ....................................................................................................................... 17 

2) The general practice workforce, including workforce planning, the recruitment of new staff 
into general practice, the retention of experienced staff, staff workload and wellbeing, 
training and continuing professional development, and the growth of the multidisciplinary 
team; .................................................................................................................................... 22 

3) The patient experience of general practice, including equitable access to care, effective 
management of patient demand, the quality of care, and public trust in the services 
provided; .............................................................................................................................. 26 

4) Opportunities to improve general practice to make it fit for the future and take a more 
preventative approach to care. ............................................................................................ 27 

Recommendations ................................................................................................................... 28 

References ...................................................................................................................... 30 

Annex A: Structure of Welsh GP contract negotiations ........................................................... 32 

Annex B: Extracts from recent BMA Sessional GP survey regarding underemployment and 
unemployment ..................................................................................................................... 34 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 20



  
 

Page 3 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

Introduction 

BMA Cymru Wales is pleased to provide a response to Senedd Cymru’s Health and Social 
Care Committee’s inquiry into the future of general practice in Wales.  

We commend the committee for taking forward such a broad ranging inquiry into an area 
that is vitally important to the health and wellbeing of all Welsh citizens. Our Save Our 
Surgeries campaigni has shed light on the long-standing issues affecting general practice 
including the workforce difficulties and chronic underfunding. The public petition calling for 
fair and adequate funding for general practiceii attracted 21.6k signatures, demonstrating 
the public will for the sector to be restored to a sustainable footing with appropriate 
investment. 

The BMA is a professional association and trade union representing and negotiating on 
behalf of all doctors and medical students in the UK. It is a leading voice advocating for 
outstanding health care and a healthy population. It is an association providing members 
with excellent individual services and support throughout their lives. The BMA’s General 
Practitioners Committee Wales (GPC Wales) represents all GPs working in Wales. It is the 
representative body that negotiates the General Medical Services (GMS) contract with the 
Welsh Government and NHS Wales, and works to improve the care of patients and the 
working lives of doctors. 

This document provides a response to each of the key issues identified by the Health and 
Social Care Committee in the inquiry’s terms of reference. 

 

1) Challenges threatening the sustainability of general practice, including: 

a) The funding model for general practice and current financial pressures, 

The GMS contract is the primary funding mechanism for general practices. It outlines the 
terms under which GPs provide services to the NHS and to what extent they must provide 
services. The contract includes various elements such as the core funding for unified services 
(the ‘Global sum’), additional funding for supplementary services, and specific payments for 
achieving Quality Improvement Framework (QIF) projects. The regulations underpinning the 
Welsh GMS contract were most recently updated in 2023 with the passage of the National 
Health Service (General Medical Services Contracts) (Wales) Regulations 2023iii.  

The GP partnership model is the traditional and most widely used model of general practice 
in Wales, and the wider UK, since the inception of the NHS. In this model, individual GPs or 
several GPs operate as self-employed contractors who establish a partnership that holds a 
contract with local health boards to provide NHS services, rather than being directly salaried 
employees of the NHS. Individuals who are not GPs (or even doctors), such as business 
managers, can become partners provided the partnership has at least one qualified GP in 
order to hold an NHS contract. This model allows GPs to have a stake in the practice, sharing 

 
i bma.org.uk/advice-and-support/nhs-delivery-and-workforce/pressures/wales-save-our-surgeries-campaign  
ii petitions.senedd.wales/petitions/245944  
iii legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2023/953/contents  

Tudalen y pecyn 21

https://www.bma.org.uk/advice-and-support/nhs-delivery-and-workforce/pressures/wales-save-our-surgeries-campaign
https://petitions.senedd.wales/petitions/245944
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2023/953/contents


  
 

Page 4 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

both the profits and the risks. The partnership model is valued for its ability to provide 
continuity of care, as partners are more likely to stay in the same practice for extended 
periods and become embedded within communities. Amongst other benefits, continuity of 
care is widely recognised as having a positive effect on mortality rates (Pereira Gray, et al. 
2018). The model also encourages GPs to invest in their practices and enables innovation in 
service delivery, allowing them to adapt, in an agile manner, how services are provided. This 
was particularly evident during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

However, it comes with challenges, such as financial liabilities and risks, as well as 
administrative burdens. Where GP partners cannot continue to provide the services required 
by the terms of their contract, they can hand back the contract to their commissioning 
health board. The reasons behind this unfortunate circumstance are often wide-ranging, and 
not always financial. For example, practices may struggle to attract new GPs to the 
partnership following the retirement of longstanding partners, and be unable to afford to 
employ salaried GPs to make up the workload gap. This, in turn, results in the additional 
workload falling upon the remaining GPs and can accelerate professional burnout; coupled 
with increasing liabilities for premises and employment contracts.  

External factors may destabilise otherwise stable practices: the closure of neighbouring 
practices can result in a sudden increase in a practice’s patient list size without the 
infrastructure being in place to accommodate. Changes to premises leases by landlords or 
the refinancing of loans can drive practices to the wall financially. In rural areas, many 
practices have dispensing privileges in the absence of accessible community pharmacies. 
Income from providing this service historically has propped up the provision of GMS in that 
area. Changes to local pharmacy provisions can destabilise this and jeopardise the survival of 
practices. 

How are GP partnerships funded? 

Most of the money a practice receives derives from the global sum payment, which in 
theory is the funding for delivering the core part of the contract, known in the 2023 GMS 
contract regulations as ‘unified’ services.  

The global sum is calculated on a ‘per weighted patient’ basis and is outlined in the annually 
updated Statement of Financial Entitlements (SFE) directionsiv. The payment per practice 
reflects the practice registered population but is adjusted via the global sum allocation 
formula, better known as the Carr-Hill formula, which applies various weightings accounting 
for age, gender, and mortality.   

 
iv gov.wales/financial-entitlement-directions-local-health-boards  

Tudalen y pecyn 22

http://www.gov.wales/financial-entitlement-directions-local-health-boards


  
 

Page 5 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

The Carr-Hill formula 

This formula was first introduced with the 2004 GMS contract, and as a result, the 
weightings used derive from late 1990s/early 2000s population data. This data is no longer 
reflective of the current population demographics in Wales.  

GPC Wales believes that there is a need to review the appropriateness of the funding 
allocation formula for Welsh general practice. However, making ad hoc and immediate 
adjustments without considering the broader impacts would risk further destabilising many 
practices in a time of significant financial challenge. 

This review would need to be extensive and require major upfront investment to procure 
specialist input, including population health and financial modelling expertise. This was the 
approach taken in Scotland prior to the introduction of their new funding formula with the 
2018 contractv. Recommendations of this review would inform the next steps for funding 
allocation in Wales. 

Practices also receive a proportion of funding under the Quality Improvement Framework 
(QIF) if they choose to participate in this optional activity. The QIF aims to enhance the 
quality of care provided by general practices, consisting of two domains: Access, and Quality 
Improvement projects. It operates on an annual cycle, with specific objectives and quarterly 
reporting requirements. Each requirement/project is allocated a set number of points (with 
an annually adjusted financial value), and practices earn points based on their performance 
in those areas. QIF replaces the previous Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF) and the 
Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework (QAIF), with the assurance measures from 
these systems now embedded in the overall GMS contract assurance framework. 

Practices also receive funding to provide Supplementary Services in addition to the basic 
contract requirements. These were previously known as Enhanced services. These include 
Minor surgery, Care Homes services, and Vaccination & immunisation programmes amongst 
others. Practices receive extra payments for delivering these services, should they determine 
it is feasible to provide them, and it is of benefit to their patient population. Supplementary 
Services can be Directed, negotiated nationally and must be offered to all practices by health 
boards, or Local, which are negotiated locally between Local Medical Committees and health 
boards. 

Further funding sources include IT and premises costs (arrangements differ depending on 
whether the premises are rented or owned), medicines reimbursement, training fees and 
other health board administered funds. 

There is a Contract Assurance Frameworkvi built into the 2023 GMS contract regulations, 
which health boards use to assess the delivery of contract requirements by GP practices, 
using various data sources and metrics to reduce undue bureaucracy. The framework sets 
out multiple stages of escalation that the commissioning health board can take if a practice 

 
v.Deloitte/Scottish Government (2016) Scottish Allocation Formula – GMS: Unit cost formula review  
vi gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2023-10/unified-contract-assurance-framework_0.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 23

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2017/11/2018-gms-contract-scotland/documents/00527542-pdf/00527542-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00527542.pdf
http://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2023-10/unified-contract-assurance-framework_0.pdf


  
 

Page 6 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

struggles to meet the contract terms, with the ultimate sanction being to issue a breach 
notice. 

Dispensing GP practices, who play a vital role in rural general practice, have different 
funding mechanisms in addition to those above. They are typically situated in rural areas and 
serve patients where pharmacies are not commercially viable or accessible. Dispensing 
practices require bigger premises to accommodate the additional dispensing requirements, 
and due to rurality will often operate on a multi-site basis. In Wales, approximately 68 
practices (c.18% of the total) offer a dispensing service as of December 2024, serving over 
190.7k patientsvii. Practices being able to dispense has been crucial for maintaining GMS in 
many parts of Wales: historically the income from dispensing has ensured the continued 
viability of these practices. However, for a variety of factors succinctly outlined by the 
Dispensing Doctors Association (Dispensing Doctors Association 2025) and expanded upon in 
greater detail below, the future of dispensing is in trouble. The dispensing system needs 
contractual and regulatory reform to ensure the continued viability of rural general practice 
in Wales. 

General Medical Services Contract Negotiations: Representing the Voice of the GP Profession 

Negotiations on the GMS contract occur annually on a tripartite basis between the executive 
team of the BMA’s GPC Wales committee, NHS Wales and the Welsh Government. 
Discussions cover iterative changes to the contract, and the associated annual financial 
changes. An overview of the process is provided in Annex A. 

GMS contract negotiations for 2024/25 were significantly delayed, partly due to the major 
political events in both Westminster and Cardiff Bay, until September and October 2024. The 
delay created uncertainty for GP practices; being liable for increasing costs, and for hard-
working staff who would expect an uplift in their pay.  

The eventual ‘best and final’ proposal from the Welsh Government fell significantly short of 
the costed expectations of GPC Wales. It did not demonstrate action towards tackling the 
critical issues facing Welsh general practice as outlined in the widely acknowledged Save Our 
Surgeries campaignviii. GPC Wales resolved to put this offer to the Welsh GP profession in a 
referendum in November 2024. 

A resounding 99% of GP members in Wales, on a 68% turnout, voted to reject the original 
contract offer for 2024/25. This resulted in an improved offer from the Welsh Government 
which was negotiated in resumed tripartite talks in January 2025. This new deal saw £52.1m 
of new investment, almost doubling the initial investment proposed in the original offer, 
with the increased quantum intended as a practice stabilisation payment. This sum 
represents an uplift of 11% of the total Wales GMS contract value. Following much debate, 
GPC Wales voted unanimously to accept this improved offer on 23 January. Table 1 presents 
the financial breakdown of the 2024/25 contract:  

 
vii Figures provided by the Dispensing Doctors Association (DDA) 
viii bma.org.uk/advice-and-support/nhs-delivery-and-workforce/pressures/wales-save-our-surgeries-campaign  

Tudalen y pecyn 24

http://www.bma.org.uk/advice-and-support/nhs-delivery-and-workforce/pressures/wales-save-our-surgeries-campaign


  
 

Page 7 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

 GMS contract element £ of investment 

Recurrent funding 24/25 

DDRB recommended 6% pay uplift for GP 
partners 

£10.6 m 

DDRB recommended 6% pay uplift applied to 
salaried GPs and all practice staff 

£12.7 m 

General practice expenses £1.8m 

Transfer of existing funding 
to Global Sum 

Learning Disabilities DSS to become part of 
unified services 

£0.5m 

In year non-recurrent 
funding 24/25 

Practice stabilisation payment 
£23.0m 

Additional capacity fund 

Additional Capacity fund investment for 24/25 
(with commitment to continue for 25/26) 

 

£4m 

Table 1 - Financial changes from 24/25 GMS contract agreement 

Other contractual changes agreed include: 

• Additions to ‘unified services’: Covid antiviral treatments for immunocompromised 

patients; transfer of the current Learning Disability Directed Supplementary Service, 

with qualifying definition to be agreed. 

• Collection of data via GP systems on patient frailty and ethnicity. 

• QI project 25-26 on measures of Continuity of care - subject to approval by the GMS 

quality committee. 

• Practices to enable the repeat prescribing functionality of the NHS Wales App and to 

assist patients with Welsh Identity Verification Service (WIVS) for those unable to 

register for the NHS Wales app online. 

• Review of the access standards reporting requirements for the 2025/26 year and the 

longer-term future of the system. 

• Engagement in discussions about the development of GP collaboratives. 

We continue to have significant reservations about the non-recurrent nature of the practice 
stabilisation funding, as practices will continue to be liable for increased minimum wage 
rates and other increased costs into the new financial year. However, we appreciate that the 
funding being non-recurrent was unavoidable at this late stage in the budgetary cycle, and 
the funding was necessary given the challenging circumstances that many practices face. We 
have secured assurances on early contract discussions for 2025/26 in the hope that this 
investment can be made recurrent, and an earlier agreement can be reached to avoid the 
uncertainty and delayed announcements of the last two years. 

We know that GP members in Wales are unsatisfied with recent contract agreements, 
feeling that they do not address the current challenges, let alone establish the building 
blocks for a more sustainable future. In addition to the resounding rejection of the original 

Tudalen y pecyn 25



  
 

Page 8 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

2024/25 contract proposal in the referendum, 95% of GP respondents (n = 269) to an April 
2024 survey by GPCW said that they felt negatively about the future of general practice 
following the conclusion of the previous year’s 2023/24 negotiations, which ended without 
agreement. Furthermore, 75% of GP contractor respondents to that survey said they would 
be willing to undertake collective action short of a contract breach should there be no viable 
progress toward addressing the fundamental issues facing general practice within 
negotiations.  

We remain committed to working constructively with the Welsh Government and NHS 
Wales. We hope to see the commitments towards early talks for 2025/26 realised in order to 
achieve stability and certainty for GPs in Wales. Our focus will be on addressing the burning 
platform of general practice and resolving the known unavoidable costs that GP practices 
will face from April 2025 onward, such as further statutory wage increases and National 
Insurance contributions. Should progress not be apparent, we may need to consult and, 
indeed, ballot our GP membership regarding potential collective action. This difficult step 
would not be pursued lightly. Nevertheless, it could ultimately be necessary to protect the 
wellbeing of the profession and patients alike, by allowing practices to focus on delivering 
safe care in the face of inadequate funding. 

GP pay and Expenses: How the escalating costs of doing business have led to pay erosion 

GP practices, as small independent businesses, are responsible for paying all operating costs 
out of the income they receive. NHS Digital’s GP Earnings and Expenses Estimates report is 
published annually and analyses a representative sample of GP practice self-assessment tax 
returns to HMRCix. This analysis shows that two-thirds of practice expenses relate to staffing 
costs (66.1% of all expenses in 2022-23), with the next largest expense categories being 
‘Other’ (15%), Premises costs (11%) and General business expenses (6%). Further analysis 
shows that staffing costs as a proportion of expenses are rising: in 2006/07 they comprised 
58% of all expenses, rising to a high of 66.8% in 2021/22. 

Crucially, general practice cannot run on a deficit and therefore, cannot benefit from any 
‘bailouts’ or run debts over the long term, unlike other parts of the NHS. GP partners are 
personally liable for any losses made by their practice. 

GP partners (also known as GP contractors) are paid according to their ‘drawings’ from the 
partnership, being dependent on what is left once all expenses have been accounted for. As 
part of their annual analysis, NHS Digital calculates the average GP ‘Expenses to Earnings 
Ratio’ (EER). As per the most recent available data (2022-23), the EER stands at 66.3%. This is 
the highest proportion on record.  

The EER helps to determine how funding uplifts are apportioned to the GMS contract in 
annual negotiations. For instance, a recommendation by the independent Doctors and 
Dentist Remuneration Board (DDRB) of a pay uplift for GP partners of 6% will be applied to 
the 33.7% of the contract value representing ‘GP earnings’ in the EER. Likewise, uplifts to pay 

 
ix NHS Digital ‘GP Earnings and Expenses Estimates, 2022/23’ digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/gp-earnings-and-expenses-estimates/2022-23  

Tudalen y pecyn 26

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/gp-earnings-and-expenses-estimates/2022-23
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/gp-earnings-and-expenses-estimates/2022-23


  
 

Page 9 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

for salaried GP and other staff, as well as any other expense increases, would be 
apportioned to the 66.3% of the contract value representing expenses. 

GP partners, as business owners, do have a degree of control of their profit margins. 
However, their incomes are capped, and the only available method to control margins is to 
reduce expenses (e.g. reducing staffing levels, staff pay or non-essential service provision). 
Ultimately, without a sufficient contract uplift to cover these rising costs, the DDRB’s 
intended pay awards cannot be realised for GP partners. This can be best illustrated by the 
experience of the successive contract rounds in recent years. During a time of high inflation, 
contract agreements failed to deliver uplifts which delivered any real terms pay increases for 
contractor GPs. This fact was acknowledged by the DDRB in their most recent report (DDRB 
2024, p120).  

GP partner members told us in a March 2024 survey that they had only received a 0.3% pay 
uplift during the 2023/24 financial year, as the overall investment hadn’t matched rising 
expenses. This ‘increase’ fell substantially short of the DDRB’s recommendation of a 6% 
uplift, which the Welsh Government failed to meet by offering a theoretical 5% pay uplift. 
Ultimately, this means that GP partner pay has seen severe erosion, with our calculations in 
November 2024 (British Medical Association 2024, p83) suggesting a decline of 29% since 
2008/09 based on the Retail Price Index (RPI). Alongside the other liabilities and pressures of 
partnership, this decline in reward is a significant disincentive to GP partners remaining in 
the service. 

Salaried GPs in Wales that are employed by GP practices are paid according to a pay range 
recommended annually by the Doctors' and Dentists' Remuneration Body (DDRB). The pay 
range for salaried GPs in Wales for the 2024/25 financial year is between £71,061 and 
£107,229x. NHS Digital includes salaried GP data in their annual average earnings and 
expenses time-series. GPs employed on terms of the BMA model contract are entitled to a 
guaranteed pay rise each year in line with the decision by the government(s) in response to 
the DDRB. Furthermore, since initially negotiated in approximately 2021, the Welsh GMS 
contract’s SFE requires that practices pass on an annually defined pay award to all employed 
staff, including salaried GPs - and declare to their health board that they have done so. 
However, the significant financial pressures experienced by practices across Wales 
ultimately mean that they have a reduced capacity to offer permanent or sessional job 
opportunities for GPs including those who are newly qualified, leading to reports of under 
and unemployment of GPs. 

The funding challenges facing Dispensing Doctors and the need for reform 

As previously noted, around 18% of all Welsh GP practices offer dispensing services and 
there are a range of specific financial challenges that they must deal with, in addition to the 
broader issues common to all GPs. 

The dispensing GP model requires practices to purchase drugs from pharmaceutical 
wholesalers, which they then dispense to patients. The full drug cost, including VAT, is paid 
at time of purchase. Once the required prescription forms are completed, practices are 
reimbursed for drug costs, net of VAT, at current tariff prices, minus a discount abatement 

 
x bma.org.uk/pay-and-contracts/pay/gp-pay/salaried-gp-pay-ranges  

Tudalen y pecyn 27

http://www.bma.org.uk/pay-and-contracts/pay/gp-pay/salaried-gp-pay-ranges


  
 

Page 10 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

or ‘clawback’. Tarriff prices have failed to take account of market forces and do not reflect 
the actual costs of the drugs, leading to financial losses for practices before clawback is even 
considered. The percentage of clawback incurred is dependent on dispensing volumes, and 
this ‘discount scale’ is published in twice annually in the SFE. This scale is adjusted for any 
over or underspend of the dispensing envelope in preceding two years. On average the 
clawback adjustment of money returned to the NHS is around 11.1%. Unlike dispensing 
practices, community pharmacies are entitled to a broad range of exceptions to this. This 
clawback system stems from a time where dispensers/pharmacies were more able to 
negotiate purchasing discounts, and therefore it does not reflect the current market. This 
clearly needs reform. 

Remuneration for managing a dispensing service in rural practices is provided through a 
dispensing fee, paid on a per item basis. There is an agreed annual dispensing pot or 
‘envelope’ that is calculated on an England and Wales level. The calculation of the dispensing 
fee was established in 2012 and adheres to a complex formula, with the fee scale published 
in the SFE. 

The dispensing fee is divided into two elements: 60% cost and 40% profit. The cost element 
is intended to cover dispensing staff salaries and other overheads. It is not uplifted by an 
annual DDRB recommendation or by inflation, but varied only by volume of dispensing 
changes, meaning that cost rises associated with purely dispensing staff (e.g. statutory wage 
rises or national insurance increases) are not covered in annual GMS contract negotiations. 
The profit element is increased annually but based on financial changes to the English GMS 
contract, due to the joint nature of the envelope. Limitations of this formula and the lack of 
any uplift to the cost element as a consequence of multi-year deals in England mean that 
there has been minima real terms uplift to the dispensing fee since 2012. Another 
complication is that the dispensing fee is paid on a tiered system per prescribing doctor 
rather than per practice. As a result of these factors, the current fee scale is lower than in 
2018 and therefore drugs are being dispensed at a financial loss to those practices.  

GPC Wales has held positive initial discussions with Welsh Government about reforms to this 
system for Wales, including disaggregating elements which rely on the English contract. 
However, this has yet to make substantive progress, and renewed momentum is direly 
needed. 

General practice has suffered from years of chronic underfunding 

Decreasing pay for GP partners and scant job opportunities for sessional and newly qualified 
GPs are symptoms of the core issue at hand: the chronic long-term underfunding of general 
practice in Wales. As our Save Our Surgeries campaign has illustrated, between 2012 and 
2024, a hundred GP practices in Wales disappeared while the equivalent number of full-time 
GPs decreased by 25%.  

Despite the rhetoric and stated aims of the Welsh Government’s A Healthier Wales calling 
for a “shift in resources to the community” to redress the health system’s reliance on 
traditional hospital services, the proportion of NHS funding provided to general practice has 
continually declined over the past 20 years. 

Tudalen y pecyn 28



  
 

Page 11 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

Our analysis from various sources, including Welsh Government supplementary budget data, 
suggests that as of 2023/24, a mere 6.01% of the NHS Wales budget is invested into GMS 
(equating to approx. £639m of £10.4bn). This is illustrated in Figure 1. This proportion was 
once at 8.7% in 2005/06: 

 

Figure 1 - Proportion of NHS Wales funding invested in General Practice 

We suggest the reduction in spending on GMS services for 23/24 will have been exacerbated 
by the Welsh Government bailout of Health board deficits during November 2023 (Minister 
for Health and Social Services 2023). The value of the bailout amounted to approximately 
107% of the total GMS core contract value at 22/23. 

For general practice to have a sustainable future, this trend must be reversed through 
restoration toward previous resource levels. Resource restoration is essential to secure 
sufficient investment for a workforce that meets the inexorable workload that GMS 
practices manage daily on behalf of the NHS in Wales, whilst maintaining the well-being of 
those who deliver that care. 

Analysis by Deloitte, in a report on behalf of RCGP (Deloitte/RCGP 2014, p15), illustrates the 
picture across the UK during the period 2003-2013. In 2005/06, with the advent of the then 
new GMS contract, the proportion of spend at a UK level was over 10% of the NHS budget, 
and there were ambitious expansion plans for new services, excellent recruitment and 
retention, oversubscribed training and high morale. 

Tudalen y pecyn 29



  
 

Page 12 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

Our findings for the intervening years demonstrate that there has been a gradual decline in 
the proportion of NHS Wales finance available to general practice. Welsh Government must 
commit to a reversal of this underfunding by restoring the previous 8.7% of the total Welsh 
NHS budget directly into GMS within the next three years, with an aspiration to invest closer 
to 11% of NHS spending directly into GMS within the next five years. We acknowledge that 
this would represent a major redirection and reprioritisation within the NHS Wales budget 
(as illustrated in Table 2), and likely require additional investment. 

 £M 

SPENDING ON GMS IF AT 8.7% OF NHS WALES BUDGET £931.9m 

ADDITIONAL INVESTMENT NEEDED WITHIN 3 YEARS +£292.7m 

SPENDING ON GMS IF AT 10.95% OF NHS WALES BUDGET £1,164.8m 

ADDITIONAL INVESTMENT NEEDED WITHIN 5 YEARS +£525.7m 

Table 2 - What resource restoration to general practice will look like (Based on 2023/24 Welsh Government 
supplementary budget and Investment in General Practice data) 

The incremental restoration of investment is an achievable goal and should be a shared 
aspiration. This goal, once achieved, can help to bring about a disproportionate 
improvement in wider population health and significant longitudinal benefits to the entire 
health and social care system. It will allow for a greater focus on prevention, better 
condition management closer to home (a long-standing Welsh Government commitment), 
and more coherent community provision with clearly defined outcomes. When adequately 
funded, general practice is a tried, tested and value-for-money vehicle for service delivery 
with built-in contractual assurance mechanisms. 

b) the efficacy of different models for managing general practice, 

The independent contractor model of general practice 

Across the UK, GPs have largely maintained their independent contractor status of GP 
partnership since the establishment of the NHS in 1948. The traditional ‘small business’ 
model of general practice was accommodated and largely maintained within the new system 
(Kmietowicz 2006). Major changes from the 1960s onwards brought about new payment 
systems which entitled GPs to claim back 70% of staff costs and 100% of premises costs from 
the NHS. However, changes to expense reimbursement introduced in the major reforms of 
the 2004 GMS contract served to reduce contractual and financial risk on the NHS, at the 
expense of independent contractors. 

Structurally, this model has repeatedly been modified to maintain it within the changing NHS 
system. This includes the introduction of alternative contracts allowing for the provision of 
services by different legal entities, the increased working at scale across multi-site practices, 
and the growth in non-partner salaried GPs within the workforce. The nature of core 
services provided by all GP practices has been defined and redefined with contract 
iterations: for example, practices were able to opt-out from providing ‘Out of Hours’ services 

Tudalen y pecyn 30



  
 

Page 13 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

with the 2004 GMS contract reforms, ending the traditional responsibility for 24/7 patient 
care.  

It is widely recognised ( (UK Parliament Health and Social Care Committee 2022), (RCGP 
2023)) that, when properly resourced, the partnership model of general practice is 
associated with many benefits: for patients, the wider health economy and GPs themselves. 

• Autonomy, Adaptability and Flexibility: GPs working in partnership have the 

freedom to make decisions about their practice, including how they manage their 

time and resources. This autonomy allows them to tailor their NHS services to meet 

the specific local needs and adapt quickly to changing circumstances. In this model, 

practices can adapt to the health needs of their local population and provide 

supplementary services (directed or local) to meet them. Partnerships have been 

found to foster “entrepreneurialism and creativity” and larger federated practices in 

particular can “release economies of scale” and develop “improved management 

capacity” (Mathew and Jones 2024). 

• Continuity of Care: The model supports continuity of care, which is associated with 

better patient outcomes including lower mortality rates (Pereira Gray, et al. 2018). 

GP partners are more likely to remain working at the same surgery for longer (Ding, 

Hann and Sibbald 2008) than salaried GPs and thus become embedded in their 

communities. Patients often see the same GP over time, and indeed members of the 

same family, building a strong doctor-patient relationship that can lead to more 

personalised and effective care. 

• Value for Money: GP partners have control over their practice, including staffing, 

services offered, and crucially, the financial management. We have previously 

outlined that practices are unable to operate at a deficit as small businesses. Indeed, 

the RCGP have said that the “partnership model of general practice is extremely good 

value for money for the NHS” due to the goodwill of GP partners who have a critical 

financial stake in the organisations. The Darzi report on the NHS in England in 2024 

also stated that “spending in primary and community services had a superior return 

on investment” compared to hospital services (Prof Lord Darzi 2024, p74). 

A relatively recent partnership-focused initiative introduced into the GP contract is the 
Partnership Premium Scheme, launched as part of the 2019-2020 GMS Contract agreement. 
This scheme aims to incentivise GPs into partnership by providing additional payments to GP 
partners based on the number of clinical sessions they undertake as a partner. Payments are 
made quarterly. However, the scheme has been somewhat devalued given the absence of 
any uplift mechanism which can adjust for inflation and GP pay rises. We have agreed with 
the Welsh Government to review this ahead of the forthcoming contract negotiations. The 
Partnership Premium scheme effectively replaces the previous Seniority scheme, which 
rewarded length of commitment. This is now closed to new entrants but maintained at 
current levels for existing recipients. 

Some disadvantages are widely associated with the partnership model, including the 
individual financial risks during challenging economic circumstances. These include: 

Tudalen y pecyn 31



  
 

Page 14 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

• Financial liabilities: Independent contractors personally bear all financial liabilities 

and risks associated with running a practice. This includes managing expenses such as 

staff salaries, premises costs and other operational expenses, and, on occasion, 

property ownership. As outlined above, years of underinvestment in general practice 

puts immense strain on contractors liable to cover these costs. Where contract 

uplifts are insufficient to cover rising expenses, practices have limited means to raise 

alternative funding to accommodate the shortfall. 

• Workload and Stress: The model can lead to high workloads and stress for all GPs, 

but with ultimate responsibility for delivery falling on the contract holders, i.e. 

partners. GP partners rated their daily workload at 83/100 in an April 2024 survey 

and 98% said they felt some level of wellbeing concerns as a result. The responsibility 

of managing a practice, along with clinical duties, can be overwhelming. This has 

been linked to issues such as burnout and mental health problems among GPs. 

• Recruitment and retention: There has been a noticeable decline in the number of GP 

partners, with StatsWales data demonstrating an 8% reduction in partner headcount 

in Wales since March 2020 compared to a 46% increase in salaried GPs over that 

period. Despite many wishing to enter a partnership in future if conditions are 

stabilised (The Kings Fund 2022), early career GPs are less inclined to take on the 

responsibilities of partnership, with the cost-of-living crisis and pay erosion affecting 

their ability to ‘buy-in’ to the partnership. This has been witnessed in England with 

the number of GP partners under 40 falling by 53% from 2015 to 2024 (Nuffield Trust 

2025).  

• Variation between practices: From a Health board or Welsh Government 

perspective, there is a perception that the model can hamper the universality of 

service provision for patients. While practices must provide unified services required 

by their contract, partners can determine whether it is viable for the practice to offer 

certain supplementary services to its patient list. 

• Lack of Political Support: Primarily in England, the independent contractor model has 

faced criticism from politicians across the political spectrum, threatening its 

sustainability. This was particularly acute during the pandemic. This lack of political 

support can undermine the model and create uncertainty for GPs and practices. The 

Welsh Government has publicly stated its support for the continuation of the model. 

However, we continue to call for rhetoric to become a reality, as reflected in key calls 

of the Save Our Surgeries campaign. 

While the independent contractor model of general practice comes with inherent risks and 
challenges, GPC Wales believes that with proper resourcing and support, the benefits of 
autonomy, adaptability, and flexibility for GPs can outweigh these risks, ensuring the 
continued effectiveness of general practice for the patient population of Wales.  

A starting point would be to review and reform the process by which practices are 
reimbursed for the costs incurred as part of doing business. As recognised by the DDRB in 
their 2024 report (p20), contract uplifts in recent years have failed to take account of 
increased expenses due to inflation, thus negating any intended pay uplifts. This could 

Tudalen y pecyn 32

https://www.bma.org.uk/advice-and-support/nhs-delivery-and-workforce/pressures/wales-save-our-surgeries-campaign


  
 

Page 15 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

include consideration of an index-linked and ringfenced expenses uplift, direct 
reimbursement of staffing costs (or a proportion thereof), or direct reimbursement of any 
premises costs including management fees. This would represent progress toward partial 
de-risking of the model and help to ensure its continuation.  

The current restrictions on the legal structures by which GP partnerships are entitled to hold 
NHS contracts must be reviewed, to allow alternatives to the current unlimited liability 
partnershipsxi that most GPs hold. The current situation means partners are “jointly and 
severally” liable for any losses resulting from financial difficulties, with each partner 
potentially liable on a personal basis for the entire value of the debt. This personal risk is not 
palatable for future generations of GPs and not sustainable for current contract holders. 
Alternative structures could include community interest companies (CIC) or limited liability 
partnerships (LLPs). 

Existing GMS contract regulationsxii prevent contracts being held by LLPs. While not without 
their own risks and complexities, LLPs offer additional protections from liabilities for 
individual partners. An LLP is a separate legal entity, which means it has legal capacity to 
enter into agreements or contracts, assume obligations, incur, and pay debts, sue and be 
sued, and to be held responsible for its actions. It will continue in existence despite any 
change in membership, thus making transferring ownership and succession much more 
straightforward. The structure also offers more flexibility in management structures and 
decision making. It is vitally important that any reforms are considered alongside pension 
eligibility regulations, which currently prevent LLP or CIC employed staff from being part of 
the NHS pension scheme. 

Directly managed practices 

The managed practice model in Wales involves GP practices being directly managed by 
health boards in order to continue the provision of primary medical services in that practice 
area. Health boards will operate the practice with directly employed salaried GPs and/or 
sessional locum GPs, alongside the wider practice team. This eventuality usually occurs when 
GP partners have handed their GMS contracts back due to the pressures we have previously 
mentioned, or upon retirement. When this happens, health boards have several options: to 
seek new independent contractor GPs via a vacant practice panel; to disperse the practice 
population amongst neighbouring practices; to enable existing GMS practices to merge; or 
to directly manage the practice.  

We would argue that this model has not been consciously designed but stems from the 
health boards being forced to intervene due to their responsibilities as providers of 
healthcare for their population. 

Managed practices are subject to the Local Health board Medical Services (Wales) Directions 
2024xiii, which sets out the requirements to provide equivalent services to practices 
operating under the standard GMS contract. However, we have heard from members 
anecdotally that many supplementary services are not offered to managed practice patients 

 
xi Governed by the Partnership Act 1890 legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Vict/53-54/39/contents  
xii legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2023/953/regulation/6  
xiii gov.wales/local-health-board-medical-services-wales-directions-2024  

Tudalen y pecyn 33

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Vict/53-54/39/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2023/953/regulation/6
https://www.gov.wales/local-health-board-medical-services-wales-directions-2024


  
 

Page 16 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

and that operational hours may vary. It remains a concern that health boards are 
simultaneously responsible for providing services in these settings, while also overseeing the 
contract assurance requirements. 

This model has become more prevalent in recent years, initially in North and West Wales but 
more recently in areas such as Gwent. BMA Cymru Wales conducted a series of Freedom of 
Information Requests to health boards regarding their operation of managed practices 
across the time period 2018/19 and 2022/23xiv. During this time:  

• 38 GP practices handed back their contracts, with a noticeable disparity across health 

boards. 

• The number of practices being directly managed varied from 23 to 29, with some 

returning to independent contractor status (otherwise known as ‘GMS’) and others 

closed. This varied considerably between health boards, with Betsi Cadwaladr UHB 

managing up to 15 sites and Cardiff & Vale UHB having none. 

• A total overspend in the region of £31.6m was accumulated, i.e. additional spending 

over and above what practices would have received if they were operated as GMS 

practices. This was particularly high in the 2022/23 year with an overspend of 

£10.9m. This represents a total overspend of 24% over the time period. 

This means that patients in managed practices received an average of £53.38 more than 
they would have received by the traditional global sum allocation to GMS practices. This 
equates to an increased per-patient spend of approximately 33%. Statistics regarding the 
number of practices managed and their staff profile can now be found on StatsWales, 
although this lacks financial transparency. 

GPC Wales has expressed concerns about the managed practice model over a significant 
period of time. As our findings demonstrate, the model is far more costly compared to the 
traditional independent contractor model and offers significantly worse value for money for 
patients. The significant overspends can be attributed to increased management costs and 
the need to incur sessional locum GPs, although there has been an increasing move toward 
substantive salaried roles. We acknowledge that the model is necessary in some areas to 
ensure the continued provision of primary medical services for patients that would 
otherwise have no access to healthcare. However, it is not a preferred long-term solution 
due to its higher costs and inefficiencies. 

Private GP services 

It is important to make the distinction between the independent contractor model of 
general practice, where GP partnerships are contracted to provide NHS funded services 
available to patients free at the point of delivery, and purely private general practice. 

The latter are services are provided by GPs entirely outside of the NHS, which are typically 
paid for directly by patients or through private health insurance. Private GPs offer a range of 
services, including consultations, diagnostic tests, and treatments, often with easier access 

 
xiv Interactive infographic on Freedom of Information Requests on Managed Practices 2018/19-2022/23: 
public.flourish.studio/story/1942910/  

Tudalen y pecyn 34

https://public.flourish.studio/story/1942910/


  
 

Page 17 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

and more flexible appointment options compared to under pressure NHS services. Fully 
private GP practices are being established across Wales (BBC Wales 2023) (2024), as a direct 
result of the critical issues facing NHS general practice as described in this response. Further 
afield, some NHS practices in the UK have often provide private appointments to non-
registered patients outside of the core GP contract hours, as a means to make up for chronic 
funding shortfalls (Torjesen 2024). 

Under the GMS contract regulations, all NHS contracted GP practices are restricted from 
providing treatment to their own registered patients on a paid for basis, even if there was 
both patient demand and staff capacity for offering distinct services outside of core NHS 
hours, e.g. minor surgery not otherwise offered on the NHS. Additionally, contractors under 
certain premises arrangements are prevented from raising a certain proportion of income 
through non-NHS treatment. Practices are entitled to levy fees and charges for certain 
limited activities such as workplace medicals, and non-NHS vaccinations & certification for 
travel purposesxv.  

This means there is an uneven playing field for practices in relation to community 
pharmacies for the annual flu programme. GP practices are unable to opportunistically offer 
a paid for flu jab to their registered patients that do not fall within the annually announced 
eligible groups.  

We remain committed to the principle of free at the point of delivery NHS funded care; and 
a widespread deviation from this principle could invariably worsen the Inverse Care Law. 
However, there are contractual provisions which put restrictions on practices and their 
ability to supplement funding shortfalls. While current workforce and workload pressures 
would it difficult for practices to offer non-NHS treatments, vaccinations and other services 
to their own patients, there is a need to review these provisions as the alternative could 
amount to a further increase in purely private GP services. 

c) the suitability and maintenance of general practice estates and access to digital 
technology; 

General practice estates 

GPs in Wales (and across the UK) typically occupy their premises in one of two main ways: 
outright ownership or rental. Many GP practices are owned by the GP partners themselves 
and are termed as owner-occupied. The property might be owned outright or financed 
through a mortgage or loan. When the premises are owned outright, the practice receives 
notional rent reimbursements from the NHS for the space used for NHS purposes. If the 
property is subject to a mortgage or loan, the practice receives either the notional rent or a 
cost rent reimbursement, which is based on the borrowing costs. Owners remain liable for 
all aspects of the building, including if the practice hands back its GMS contract.  

An increasing number of GP practices operate from leased premises. These can be owned by 
former GP partners, private landlords, or public bodies such as the health board. Practices 
that lease their premises receive a leasehold cost rent reimbursement from the NHS, which 

 
xvPlease refer to NHS (GMS Contracts) (Wales) Regulations 2023 paragraphs 21 and 22 
legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2023/953/regulation/21/made; legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2023/953/regulation/22/made  

Tudalen y pecyn 35

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2023/953/regulation/21/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2023/953/regulation/22/made


  
 

Page 18 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

should not exceed the actual lease rent paid. Leased premises will be subject to service 
charges from the landlord in addition to the usual maintenance and cleaning fees. 

Feedback from members over a significant period has highlighted several consistent issues in 
relation to the current GP estate. Figure 2 displays the premises issues which respondents to 
a 2024 GPC Wales survey were asked to rank in terms of their impact on the sustainability of 
their practice. 

 

Figure 2 - Premises factors affecting practice sustainability as ranked by practices 

Service Charges and Funding:  

The impact of service charges for rental premises is significant. There is a need to update the 
2015 Premises Cost (Wales) Directions, particularly regarding sizing, multiple occupancy, and 
how service charges are handled. 

Inadequate Improvement grants:  

Practices are eligible to apply for grants from their health board to improve or extend their 
premises under the Premises Cost Directions. However, the value of grants is often 
insufficient, with obtaining 100% funded grants being extremely difficult. Practices should 
also be able to access bespoke grants where practices wish to improve access for those with 
disabilities or enhanced access needs. 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



  
 

Page 19 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

Shared Usage and Space:  

The increase in health board-owned and developed premises coupled with the rise of multi-
disciplinary working under the Primary Care Model for Wales has made shared usage of 
premises commonplace. However, this can lead to disputes over space and rent calculations, 
particularly when co-located services are delivered by health board staff. A formula for rent 
payment calculation based on usage of practice space is necessary. 

Ownership and Lease Arrangements:  

The current funding structure creates barriers for GP partners, particularly regarding estate 
ownership and lease arrangements. There has been a general trend in recent from GP-
owned premises to leasehold arrangements, with a reluctance from young GPs to enter into 
ownership, but significant numbers of owned premises remain . GP partner owner-occupiers 
remain at risk of Last Person Standing liabilities: the situation where one partner is left alone 
when other partners retire of leave, potentially facing the full financial and operational 
burden of the practice, including premises liabilities and obligations. A Welsh Health Circular 
issued by the Chief Medical Officer in 2018, negotiated by GPC Wales and the Welsh 
Governmentxvi, sets out the premises options health boards have available to support 
partners in this eventuality. However, this policy direction falls short of partial or complete 
de-risking. 

Maintenance and Safety:  

The physical condition of buildings, particularly their functional suitability and safety, are 
critical concerns. While a GPC Wales survey in early 2024 revealed no instances of 
Reinforced Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (RAAC) in member premises, there are 
nevertheless known issues regarding the condition of many practices, in particular 
compliance with accessibility requirements. This was illustrated in a report commissioned by 
the Welsh Government on the future of primary care premises in Wales (Archus/Welsh 
Government 2021) which found that in 2021 around 13% of GP premises in Wales were in a 
category C condition: ‘operational but major repair of replacement needed soon’. There is a 
need for an improved estates strategy that can enable GPs and their teams to practice in 
modern, fit-for-purpose settings. 

Training and Capacity Issues:  

Over the last decade, there has been a trend toward an increased proportion of education 
and training for health professions taking place in primary care settings. In principle, this is 
to be commended, given that it provides professionals with experience in the challenges of 
working outside of acute settings. However, the physical capacity for training within 
practices is limited with a paucity of consulting rooms which can be used for this purpose. 
This comes in addition to capacity issues amongst trainers themselves. 

GPC Wales is represented on an ongoing collaborative Premises Task and Finish Group that 
aims to address various issues related to primary care premises in Wales. The group brings 
together key stakeholders from the Welsh Government, health boards, and other relevant 

 
xvi Welsh Health Circular (2020) 018 gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-10/support-for-gp-
premises-liabilities.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 37

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-10/support-for-gp-premises-liabilities.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-10/support-for-gp-premises-liabilities.pdf


  
 

Page 20 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

agencies. The group’s remit is to identify and resolve the longstanding premises issues and 
to develop strategies to improve, including an update to relevant directions taking into 
account development in other nations.  

Access to digital technology 

GPs in Wales benefit from relatively good access to digital technology, particularly when 
compared to the provision in hospital settings. Patient records in general practice have all 
been electronic for a significant time period and typically cover the duration of a patient’s 
lifespan (‘cradle to the grave’). In contrast, in secondary care, the patient record can still be 
paper-based and specific to a particular condition or department. There are several systems 
that allow practices to communicate electronically with secondary care departments, such 
as the Welsh Clinical Communications Gateway, which enables referrals. However, its usage 
is not uniform across NHS Wales. 

The GMS IM&T framework aims to provide a standardised approach to procuring and 
deploying IT systems for GMS practices in Wales, ensuring that practices have access to the 
necessary technology to deliver quality care. This framework is led by the GMS I&MT Board, 
featuring representation by GPC Wales, and data and digital matters led on an operational 
basis by Digital Health & Care Wales, which provides practices with many IT infrastructure 
and security services. It is funded by top-slicing a proportion of the total GMS contract value.  

Procurement exercises for the core GP practice clinical systems are conducted every five 
years; practices are able to choose between approved clinical systems developed by 
commercial providers who can demonstrate compliance with the requirements set by the 
framework. Traditionally, two major companies have provided GP clinical systems in the 
Welsh market, although during the last procurement exercise GMS was left with one 
monopoly supplier following conclusion of the process.,  

While the core clinical systems and other elements of digital technology are funded 
centrally, it does not provide practices with funding for digital access tools, such as those 
which emerged during the pandemic for online consultations, imaging and video calls. 
Practices are required to fund these tools themselves, in part to meet the contractual 
requirements for electronic access methods for non-urgent issues within core hours, 
therefore creating an additional business expense.  

The NHS Wales App 

Some of this functionality can be delivered by the NHS Wales app that has been rolled out 
gradually since 2023, although many practices rely upon the bespoke functions offered by 
third-party packages.  

The app is a welcome tool for patients to access a range of services, and the 2024/25 
contract agreement will see the repeat prescription functionality enabled by all practices. 
The app can also allow advance booking of appointments and access to the summary care 
record. While the app can create these new routes for patients to contact their practice, it 
will not in itself unlock capacity for new appointments, or alleviate any demand upon GPs 
and their staff. As discussed elsewhere, practices are experiencing chronic funding and 

Tudalen y pecyn 38



  
 

Page 21 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

workforce challenges in meeting the existing demand, which has seen approximately 6m 
digital queries to practices in 2023/24 on top of 29m telephone calls. 

Cross-border interaction 

While electronic communication between practices within the NHS Wales system is 
relatively positive (and secondary care to a lesser extent), there are significant cross-border 
challenges when Welsh GPs seek to refer patients for specialist treatment in England and 
vice-versa. A significant section of the Welsh population lives along the England/Wales 
border, and their nearest GP practice or hospital specialty may be across the border from 
where they live – making communication between health providers difficult.  

In evidence to the UK Parliament’s Welsh Affairs Committee evidence session on Cross-
border healthcare (BMA Cymru Wales 2025), we raised significant concerns about the 
inability of Welsh doctors to access patient results from English hospitals electronically in a 
timely fashion, and the extreme difficulties in communicating clinical information relating to 
referrals. With several highly specialised services only being available in England, this 
problem can apply to all practices and not merely those on the border.  

Electronic prescribing 

An area where Welsh general practice has lagged behind is the absence of electronic 
prescribing, which has been the norm in England for over a decade. After extended lobbying 
of the Welsh Government by BMA Cymru Wales and other bodies, the Electronic Prescribing 
System (EPS) is currently being rolled out to GP practices across Wales and was enabled 
legislatively within the 2023 GP contract regulations. The EPS enables prescriptions to be 
sent electronically from the practice to the pharmacy of a patient’s choice without requiring 
a paper prescription form to be manually signed by the prescribing GP. This has significant 
workload benefits as well as reducing the use of paper. The first electronic prescription was 
issued in Wales in November 2023, with a gradual rollout dependent on practice readiness 
to adopt the new systems.  

While this is extremely positive for most practices in Wales, there are significant barriers to 
the rollout of EPS amongst dispensing GP practices, who are the cornerstone of healthcare 
provision across rural Wales. Dispensing practices are concerned about the costs associated 
with implementing EPS given their specific circumstances. They need EPS-compliant Patient 
Medication Record (PMR) software, which incurs initial set-up costs and ongoing 
maintenance expenses. There is currently no funding stream to cover these costs, and 
dispensing practices are unlikely to engage with EPS until this issue is resolved. GPC Wales 
and the DDA have advocated for NHS Wales to find a funding stream to cover the costs of 
EPS implementation for dispensing practices. These extraordinary costs should not be taken 
from the core GMS budget, and a solution must be found to enable further progress. 

GPs as data controllers 

As data controllers for patient records, GPs have significant personal responsibilities for 
information governance and can be at significant financial risk of fines by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office in the event of any breaches. GPC Wales is wholly aligned with the 
theoretical concept of safe and legal access for patients to their medical information through 

Tudalen y pecyn 39



  
 

Page 22 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

electronic means. However, significant risks must be addressed through legislative change 
and other means. 

For a more extensive summary of issues relating to information governance in general 
practice, and potential solutions, we would suggest the committee refer to our prior 
correspondence to the Senedd Equality and Social Justice Committeexvii in April and August 
2023 (BMA Cymru Wales 2023). 

2) The general practice workforce, including workforce planning, the recruitment 
of new staff into general practice, the retention of experienced staff, staff 
workload and wellbeing, training and continuing professional development, and 
the growth of the multidisciplinary team; 

Workforce planning for GPs in Wales is poor and needs to include an assessment of 
population need 

Workforce planning for GPs in Wales is unquestionably poor. Recently, BMA Cymru Wales 
has expressed our concerns about the HEIW Education and Training Plan (ETP) for 2025/26 
published in February. Specifically, we are very concerned about the reduced number of 
medical training places (both GP and secondary care) to be funded by the Welsh 
Government for 2025/26 compared to that requested by HEIW. Whilst the original allocation 
of GP Specialty Training (or GP ST1) places had been between 200 and 220, the plan 
committed to only 160.  

The decision to reduce training places from the original recommended allocation comes at a 
time when workforce trends suggest that more GPs than ever are needed to accommodate 
increasing preferences for less than full-time equivalent working and portfolio careers. We 
have 25% fewer full-time equivalent GPs working at practices than in 2013. At January 2024, 
Wales needed 718 additional GPs to match the average number of GPs per 1000 people in 
other European countries (BMA Cymru Wales 2024). 

In the BMA Cymru Wales response to the draft 2025/26 ETP from June 2024, we reiterated 
our concerns that the plan lacked any visible link with other workforce plans or assessment 
of population health needs. It is important to note another delay in publishing the final plan, 
which has been subject to significant change without stakeholder engagement. 

The BMA continues to call on the Welsh government to produce a workforce strategy to 
ensure that Wales trains, recruits, and retains enough GPs to move toward the OECD 
average number of GPs per 1000 people. This must feature a renewed focus on retaining 
existing GPs and tackling the problems driving them out of the profession. 

A comprehensive workforce strategy with suitable planning based on population needs 
would help identify risks to a sustainable workforce. Audit Wales, for example, has identified 
that comparative GP training levels in Wales could fall far behind NHS England if the 
numbers promised in England’s NHS Long Term Workforce Plan come to fruition (Audit 

 
xvii business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryChronology.aspx?IId=40950&Opt=2  

Tudalen y pecyn 40

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryChronology.aspx?IId=40950&Opt=2


  
 

Page 23 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

Wales 2025, p18). This could impact the ability to recruit into GP training places at the 
required levels in Wales. 

The workload of GPs is too high, badly affecting their personal wellbeing 

In the last ten years, the number of patients registered at GP practices in Wales has 
increased by 93,317 (2.9%).xviii In the same period, the number of practices decreased from 
470 to 386 (18%), and the equivalent number of full-time GPs decreased by 456 (21.7%) 
from 1901 to 1445.xix 

The growing and ageing population is living longer with more complex needs. Increasing 
amounts of work have moved from secondary care to general practice, and record-breaking 
hospital waiting lists have exacerbated this further. Despite heavy investment in an 
expanded workforce, secondary care waiting times have soared with GPs left to manage the 
physical and psychological patient consequences of waiting long periods for care.  

According to a BMA Cymru Wales survey, GPs report excessive workloads, with an average 
workload rating of 79 out of 100, with 0 representing ‘manageable’ and 100 representing 
‘constantly excessive’. This pressure is causing practices to consider reducing their education 
and training commitments, which could negatively impact the future workforce.  

There is a low level of morale among GPs. In the same survey, 26.6% of respondents said 
they were considering leaving the profession ‘in the near future’. Only just over half of GP 
partners who answered the survey said they see themselves remaining in their current 
position in three years. GPs work tirelessly for their communities, but sadly, their efforts to 
keep up with an ever-increasing workload are detrimental to their mental wellbeing, with 
many reporting burnout, overwhelm, and fatigue. Figure 3 illustrates the wellbeing cycle 
affecting many GPs in Wales. 

Studies have demonstrated that there is an association between burnout/poor wellbeing 
amongst GPs with patient safety. A 2018 study concluded that “A higher number of hours 
spent on administrative tasks, a higher number of patients seen per day, and feeling less 
supported were associated with higher burnout levels, which in turn was associated with 
worse perceptions of safety” (Hall, et al. 2019). This was true was prior to the COVID-19 
pandemic, which is known to have exacerbated existing wellbeing concerns amongst all 
areas of the medical profession, including GPs (University of York 2021). 

 
xviii Data from NHS Wales Shared Services Partnership GP practice analysis timeseries and StatsWales data 
Patients registered at a GP practice in Wales 
xix Full time equivalent (FTE). Total count represents ‘GP providers’ which represents GP partners and salaried 
GPs 

Tudalen y pecyn 41



  
 

Page 24 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

 

Figure 3 - Representation of current wellbeing cycle facing GPs in Wales 

The risk to the health service that poor wellbeing poses is substantial. If the poor wellbeing 
of GPs  is not addressed, we will continue to see worrying trends of GP, leaving in numbers 
that affect capacity, patient care, and the ability of remaining practitioners to remain well. 

General practice finds itself in a unique position in which many GPs report high burnout 
levels while others have a desire to work more hours. In a recent UK-wide BMA survey of 
sessional GPsxx, half of non-partner GPs in Wales (49.3%) said they would like to work more. 
At first, this may seem nonsensical. The issue is that there are not enough GPs in post to 
meet patient demand, but at the same time there is un- and underemployment of GPs, 
meaning that there are qualified GPs who cannot find suitable work. This is a funding issue, 
as practices have been forced not to hire the GPs they need as they lack the funding or can 
only offer part-time roles. They might also not be able to offer competitive pay. This means 
that there are GPs who cannot find work at all or can only find part-time or underpaid roles. 
As well as being damaging for the future of general practice, it is personally damaging for the 
self-worth and wellbeing of the GPs in that situation (See Annex B for a selection of 
comments from Welsh respondents to this survey). 

Recruitment of new GPs and retention of existing GPs in general practice needs urgent 
attention  

There is evidence that a proportion of young GPs still want to enter partnerships once 
working conditions are stabilised (The Kings Fund 2022). However, there is a need for 
immediate and sustained intervention by the Welsh Government and health boards to bring 
about sustainable conditions where the partnership model can thrive. The scale of the crisis 

 
xx bma.org.uk/our-campaigns/gp-campaigns/workforce/tackling-gp-unemployment-in-the-uk-sessional-gp-
survey/  

- High workload and 
burnout

- Emotional toll from 
patient care

- Lack of worklife 
balance

- Limited resources and 
support

- Mental health stigma

- Long working hours

- Stressful patient cases

- Administrative burdens 
including shift of work 
from elsewhere

- Isolation in decision 
making

- Inadequate training in 
self-care and resilience

Wellbeing 
challenges 

Contributory 
negative 
workload 

factors  

Tudalen y pecyn 42

http://www.bma.org.uk/our-campaigns/gp-campaigns/workforce/tackling-gp-unemployment-in-the-uk-sessional-gp-survey/
http://www.bma.org.uk/our-campaigns/gp-campaigns/workforce/tackling-gp-unemployment-in-the-uk-sessional-gp-survey/


  
 

Page 25 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

is illustrated by recent joiners and leavers data for different GP types (Figure 4) which show 
a marked decrease in GP partner numbers in the last four years. 

 

Figure 4 – Net growth of GP type in Wales 2021-2024 

Despite the gradual increase in GP trainee headcount in recent years (prior to this current 
year), we need to train higher numbers of GPs to deliver upon the policy goals of A Healthier 
Wales, to deal with patient demands, and to accommodate the increased preference for less 
than full time working and portfolio careers. Compared to other NHS staff groups and other 
branches of medical practice, the relative headcount of fully qualified GPs has stagnated 
since 2009. There has only been a 1.8% increase in GP headcount since 2009, compared to a 
44% increase in the total consultant headcount. The picture is even worse when considering 
full-time equivalent working: as of March 2024, we had 25% fewer FTE GPs working at 
practices than in 2013.  

Measures to increase retention of our most experienced GPs are vitally important. 
Significant numbers of GP partners are exiting the workforce, changing their roles, or looking 
to leave soon. Only 53% of GP partner respondents told us in 2024 survey that they saw 
themselves working in their current role in three years’ time. 

It is paradoxical that at a time of immense workforce need, we hear concerning reports of 
widespread underemployment or unemployment by sessional and newly qualified GPs. This 
can in part be attributed to the crippling financial pressures that practices have been facing 
in recent years: practices are unable to afford to offer substantive salaried roles or rely upon 
locum GPs in the same way as they used to. There is a ready and trained workforce who are 
available to relieve some of the immediate pressures and in time facilitate the shift left of 
services closer to home. However, this can only be unlocked with reprioritisation of 
investment. 

Unfortunately, capacity in the current primary care estate itself may be insufficient to meet 
the increasing demand for space for the current and future workforce. This, coupled with 
the extreme workload pressures upon the GP trainers, highlights the need for further 
investment in the workforce and premises. 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



  
 

Page 26 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

3) The patient experience of general practice, including equitable access to care, 
effective management of patient demand, the quality of care, and public trust in 
the services provided; 

An overarching theme of this submission, and indeed of healthcare across Wales and the UK, 
is that there is a growing gap between demand and capacity. This impacts on doctors’ 
morale, wellbeing, and patients’ healthcare experience. According to a BMA Cymru Survey, 
GPs feel their high workload is detrimental to patient care, with 80% of respondents fearing 
that they are unable to provide quality and safe care to patients. However, there is still no 
official analysis of unmet needs. This needs to be addressed urgently if we are to work 
towards better access for patients. 

Management of patient demand and expectations is something GPs continue to grapple 
with. As noted in the Save Our Surgeries campaign update report (BMA Cymru Wales, 2024), 
data from 2021-2024 revealed that on average GPs delivered over 1.6m appointments per 
month: the equivalent of the entire Welsh population having an appointment every two 
months. Demand remains high throughout the year; between July and September 2024, an 
estimated 4.7 million appointments were scheduled. 65.7% of these were face-to-face, an 
increase of 1.2 percentage points from the same period in the previous year. GP workloads 
continue to increase year on year.xxi. 

A good doctor-patient relationship is an important part of general practice but is becoming 
increasingly uncommon. Continuity of care helps patients feel more comfortable with 
disclosing their problems, and doctors can get a better sense of a patient’s diagnosis the 
more they can understand them as a person. Unfortunately, doctors are operating in an 
environment in which a lack of capacity means flexibility is essential. Practices find 
themselves only able to offer the first available doctor rather than the patient’s usual doctor. 
This problem is caused by a dearth of GPs in Wales and exacerbated by the prevailing 
emphasis on access within the contract. To meet the access commitments implemented by 
the Welsh Government, GPs have to assign any available doctor to a patient rather than 
whoever they would prefer to see. Continuity of care is thus removed.  

Subject to approval, a long-term Continuity of care Quality Improvement project for 
practices continuity will be launched for 2025/26 and will aid practices to track this 
important factor over a long-term period. The contractual access standards will also be 
evaluated by the tripartite negotiating group. These two pieces of work will be extremely 
important to determine the how the GMS contract can seek to set an appropriate balance 
between the emphasis on ‘access at all costs’ and the continuity of patient care. 

Equitable access to care is essential to addressing health inequalities. The gap in life 
expectancy between the least and most deprived population in Wales has generally 
increased in recent years for males and females, suggesting growing inequality (Public 
Health Wales Observatory 2022). The health problems caused or worsened by a person’s 
socio-economic circumstances, such as poverty and institutional racism, are seen by all 
doctors, daily. GPs are uniquely positioned to address health inequalities as the first point of 

 
xxi General Practice activity data Jul – Sep 24 gov.wales/general-practice-activity-july-september-2024-html  

Tudalen y pecyn 44

http://www.gov.wales/general-practice-activity-july-september-2024-html


  
 

Page 27 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

contact for most patients. To address health inequalities in Wales, investing in general 
practice must be a priority. 

4) Opportunities to improve general practice to make it fit for the future and take 
a more preventative approach to care. 

Resource restoration is essential to secure sufficient investment to deliver a workforce that 
meets the inexorable workload that GMS practices manage daily on behalf of the NHS in 
Wales whilst maintaining the well-being of those who deliver that care.  

Welsh Government must commit to a reversal of this underfunding by restoring the previous 
8.7% of the total Welsh NHS budget directly into GMS within the next three years, with an 
aspiration to invest closer to 11% of NHS spending directly into GMS within the next five 
years. We acknowledge that this would represent a major redirection and reprioritisation.. 
We must course correct to restore general practice funding towards those historic levels. 

Additionally, the Welsh Statement of Financial Entitlement (SFE) lacks a population growth 
uplift factor similar to that in the Scottish equivalent. This means that year on year there has 
been a continuous compound depreciation of existing resource at a practice level with a 
rising population. 

General practice, when adequately resourced, can deliver upon the preventative agenda as 
outlined in A Healthier Wales. It could deliver upon initiatives such as: 

• Waiting list reviews,  

• Early supported discharge care  

• Community based diagnostics 

• Accommodate the transfer of chronic disease care out of hospital settings, e.g. 

holistic diabetes care.  

Crucially, increased investment would bring about improved retention of GPs across all parts 
of the career spectrum and aid recruitment of GPs and staff into general practice. This 
workforce boost will lessen the workload per GP and ensure GP workload is kept at safe 
levels. These better working conditions alongside better reward, will undoubtedly improve 
the wellbeing of our workforce. Achieving safe working conditions for our GPs and their staff 
and embedding national standards in line with existing BMA guidance on safe working (BMA 
Cymru Wales 2023) should be a shared goal for us all. 

In the summer, BMA UK will be publishing a project entitled Value of a GP, which will 
comprehensively demonstrate the case for investment in general practice and GPs from a 
political, strategic, economic, and health outcomes perspective. When this is published, we 
will ensure that the Health & Social Care Committee receive a copy of the publication.  

Tudalen y pecyn 45



  
 

Page 28 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

Recommendations 

We hope this document provides the Senedd Health and Social Care Committee with an 
overview of the many critical issues facing general practice in Wales, along with a pathway 
to safeguard its future so that GPs can play their proper role in prevention and ensuring 
citizen wellbeing. 

Our recommendations build upon those expressed in our ongoing Save Our Surgeries 
campaign, originally launched in 2023. We would ask that committee members consider the 
following calls as part of their inquiry: 

1. Welsh Government must commit to funding general practice properly, restoring the 

proportion of the NHS Wales budget spent in general practice to the historic level of 

8.7% within three years, with an aspiration to increase to nearer 11% in the next five 

years. 

2. Welsh Government must commit to a review of the appropriateness of the current 

funding allocation formula for Welsh general practice, involving specialist population 

health and financial expertise. This must include extensive modelling of the 

consequences of any potential adjustments and inclusion of any new factors in the 

formula. Recommendations of this review would inform the next steps for GP funding 

allocation in Wales. 

3. Welsh Government to work with GPC Wales and NHS Wales representatives to develop 

plans for the implementation of a national standard for safe working, taking into account 

the existing BMA guidance. To maintain safe and high-quality service delivery for 

practitioners and patients, this should consider a maximum number of patients that GPs 

can reasonably deal with during a working day. 

4. Welsh Government and HEIW to enact long-term investment in increasing the GP 

workforce, including a GP-focused and prioritised workforce strategy to increase the 

number of GPs in Wales toward the OECD average. Measures must be immediately 

implemented to retain existing doctors, ensure practices can afford to employ 

under/unemployed GPs and tackle the problems driving GPs out of the profession. This 

needs to include an anticipation of expanded and appropriately funded premises to train 

the new GPs that Wales desperately needs. 

5. Welsh Government must support the conditions to enable the contractor model of 

general practice to be stabilised and then thrive once again: mitigating unnecessary risk 

and workload issues to retain the flexibility, commitment and continuity that a 

contractor services model offers. This will mean balancing the risk and reward for 

younger doctors and those at the end of their careers, as well as supporting a variety of 

rewarding salaried and freelance roles within a service much more geared to working at 

scale. This must include a review of the regulations which restrict certain legal structures 

holding GMS contracts, and other contractual restrictions. 

Tudalen y pecyn 46



  
 

Page 29 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

6. Welsh Government must consider reforms to the GMS contract annual negotiation 

process to ensure fair remuneration for GP partners, salaried GP and all practice staff by 

instilling several key guiding principles: 

• Dissociation of the annual GP and staff pay awards from wider contractual change. 

• Transfer of work into GMS necessitates transfer of resource. 

• Pay awards to be enabled and protected each year by a sufficient expense uplift, as 

per the expectations of the DDRB. 

• An ongoing commitment for an index-linked and ringfenced uplift to expenses, and a 

population growth factor to adjust global sum for local practice populations. 

7. Welsh Government to build on existing commitments for reforms to the Dispensing 

doctor system, and work on a tripartite basis to progress areas including: 

• Removal of dispensing fee system; introduction of a capitation-based system for 

dispensing patients, with uplifts linked to Welsh GMS contract pay and expenses 

awards 

• Protect practices from drug related financial losses: removal of discount abatement 

and consideration of reimbursement for loss-making drugs 

• Consider introduction of a dispensing IT fund, including distinct non-GMS funding for 

electronic prescribing, which would also allow practices access to technological 

innovations such as ATMs, robotic tools.  

Tudalen y pecyn 47



  
 

Page 30 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

References 

Archus/Welsh Government. 2021. Future Approach to Planning Primary Care Premises in Wales 

(unpublished). Cardiff: Welsh Government. 

Audit Wales. 2025. “Addressing workforce challenges in NHS Wales.” Audit Wales. February. 

https://www.audit.wales/sites/default/files/publications/Addressing_Workforce_Challenges_

in_NHS_Wales_English.pdf. 

BBC Wales. 2023. GP appointments: Man leaves doctor of 77 years over delay. 25 October. 

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-67206027. 

—. 2024. NHS: GP says private care can help cut waiting lists. 09 January. 

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-67912939. 

BMA Cymru Wales. 2025. “ Evidence to UK Parliament Welsh Affairs Committee on cross-border 

healthcare .” 14 January. 

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/46337/documents/233815/default/. 

—. 2023. “Correspondence to Equality and Social Justice Committee on Data Justice and use of 

personal data in the Welsh NHS (April 2023).” Senedd Cymru. April. 

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s136313/Correspondence%20from%20the%20Bri

tish%20Medical%20Association%20Cymru%20to%20the%20Chair%20regarding%20data%20j

ustice%20-%2020.pdf. 

—. 2023. “Correspondence to Equality and Social Justice Committee on Data Justice and use of 

personal data in the Welsh NHS (September 2023).” September. 

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s500009863/Letter%20from%20the%20General%

20Practitioners%20Committee%20Wales%20-%2029%20August%202023.pdf. 

—. 2023. “Safe workload guidance for GPs in Wales.” BMA. October. https://www.bma.org.uk/advice-

and-support/gp-practices/managing-workload/safe-workload-guidance-for-gps-in-wales. 

—. 2024. “Save Our Surgeries ‘If Not Now, When?’.” July. 

https://www.bma.org.uk/media/2afkcffr/bma-save-our-surgeries-phase-two-bma-wales-

report-if-not-now-when-combined-web.pdf. 

BMJ. 2006. “A century of general practice.” British Medical Journal 332 (7532): 39-40. 

British Medical Association. 2024. “BMA evidence submission to the DDRB 2025/26 pay round.” 

November. https://www.bma.org.uk/media/saajzypc/bma-evidence-submission-to-the-ddrb-

202526-dec-update.pdf. 

DDRB. 2024. “Review Body on Doctors’ and Dentists’ Remuneration 52nd Report.” London. 

Deloitte/RCGP. 2014. Under pressure The funding of patient care in general practice. Deloitte. 

Ding, Alexander, Mark Hann, and Bonnie Sibbald. 2008. “Profile of English salaried GPs: labour 

mobility and practice performance.” British Journal of General Practice 58 (546): 20-25. 

Dispensing Doctors Association. 2025. “Financial pressures in dispensing practice: A briefing 

document for Health boards in Wales .” February. 

https://www.dispensingdoctor.org/user_uploads/exec_comms/2025/2025_hb_wales_briefin

g_paper.pdf.pagespeed.ce.xOAd6WcBq8.pdf. 

Tudalen y pecyn 48



  
 

Page 31 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

Hall, Louise, Judith Johnson, Ian Watt, and Daryl O'Connor. 2019. “Association of GP wellbeing and 

burnout with patient safety in UK primary care:.” British Journal of General Practice 

https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp19X702713. 

Jones, R, A Majeed, N Bhatti, P Murchie, R Vautrey, and R Rosen. 2015. “Should general practice give 

up the independent contractor status?” British Journal of General Practice (June): 314-316. 

Kmietowicz, Zosia. 2006. “A century of general practice.” BMJ 332:39. 

Minister for Health and Social Services. 2023. “Written Statement: LHB Allocations and Target Control 

Totals.” Welsh Government. 08 November. https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-lhb-

allocations-and-target-control-totals. 

Nuffield Trust. 2025. “The partnership model in general practice predates the NHS. Is now the time to 

change it?” Nuffield Trust. March. https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/the-

partnership-model-in-general-practice-predates-the-nhs-is-now-the-time-to-change-it. 

Pereira Gray, Denis J, Kate Sidaway-Lee, Eleanor White, Angus Thorne, and Philip H Evans. 2018. 

“Continuity of Care with doctors: a matter of life and death? A systematic review of continuity 

of care and mortality.” BMJ 8 (6). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-021161. 

Prof Lord Darzi. 2024. Independent Investigation of the National Health Service in England. London: 

UK Government. 

Public Health Wales Observatory. 2022. “Health expectancies in Wales with inequality gap.” 09 June. 

https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/observatory/data-and-analysis/health-

expectancies-in-wales-with-inequality-gap/. 

RCGP. 2023. The future of the partnership model. 27 April. https://www.rcgp.org.uk/gp-

frontline/spring-2023-policy-focus-partnerships. 

The Kings Fund. 2022. “Workload issues affecting GP trainees’ plans for their future careers.” The 

Kings Fund. 07 September. https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-

analysis/blogs/workload-issues-affecting-gp-trainees-plans-future-careers. 

Torjesen, I. 2024. “Should GPs be allowed to offer private services to their patients?” BMJ 387:q2123. 

UK Parliament Health and Social Care Committee. 2022. The future of general practice – Report 

Summary. Committee report, London: UK Parliament. 

University of York. 2021. “Exploring the impact of COVID-19 on GP wellbeing: Final Report.” 07 

September. 

https://www.york.ac.uk/media/healthsciences/documents/research/Finalreport_ExploringG

PwellbeingduringCOVID_070921.pdf. 

Welsh Government. 2025. Financial Entitlement Directions: Local Health boards. February. 

https://www.gov.wales/financial-entitlement-directions-local-health-boards. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



  
 

Page 32 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

Annex A: Structure of Welsh GP contract negotiations 

Following the major reforms of the ‘new’ GMS contract in 2004, negotiations on annual 
changes to the GMS contract and the associated financial details were held on largely a UK-
wide basis between the BMA’s General Practitioners Committee UK (GPCUK) and the UK 
Government/Department of Health.  

Beginning in the early 2010s, negotiations in the nations took place between the relevant 
General Practitioners Committees (e.g. GPC Wales) and their respective government, leading 
to significant divergence in approach and contractual structure. This divergence has been 
formalised in legislative terms with a new GMS contract in Scotland in 2018 and the new 
Welsh GMS contract regulations 2023. 

The current process in Wales for GMS negotiations has been in operation since from 
c.2017/18 with some iterations. It operates annually on a tripartite basis between Welsh 
Government officials, NHS Wales representatives and the executive team of GPC Wales. The 
process is overseen in governance terms by the GMS Contract Reform Group (CRG) featuring 
representatives from all parties.  

The annual process begins with a formal letter from WG inviting GPCW to submit a mandate 
of asks, consisting of financial requests and proposed contract changes relating to services. 
Equivalent mandates are produced by NHS Wales health board representatives and Welsh 
Government, although this usually takes the form of a joint WG/NHS mandate.  

All mandates are shared and then discussed at a joint mandate setting meeting. The 
resulting joint mandate document is then submitted to the NHS Wales Leadership Group 
and ultimately Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Services for sign off. This then 
determines the scope of negotiations, which include extensive discussions on the financial 
elements of the contract including the recommendations of the DDRB. 

Once negotiation meetings conclude, a final contract agreement is produced by Welsh 
Government officials and reviewed by all members of the tripartite group. This document is 
put to a vote of the full committee of GPC Wales, and potentially to a referendum of the 
wider BMA GP membership in Wales, as was the case in 2024. 

In recent years, to the great frustration of GPC Wales, Welsh Government have insisted 
upon linking pay and expenses discussions to wider contractual change. Our dissatisfaction 
at this state of affairs has been expressed publicly and directly to Ministers. This does not 
necessarily occur in other nations, where the process can be more timely in taking account 
of the DDRB recommendations. 

Negotiations usually took place prior to the start of the financial year with adjustments to 
the settlement applied once the DDRB has reported. However, given that Welsh 
Government financial envelope for any uplifts depends to a large degree upon the extent of 
Barnett consequentials from the UK Government’s reaction to DDRB recommendations, in 
practice the process has slipped until Spring/early Summer. Budget pressures in recent years 
and political factors in Cardiff Bay and Westminster have further exacerbated delays, 

Tudalen y pecyn 50

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2023/953/contents


  
 

Page 33 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

meaning that last year’s contract talks did not begin until late Summer, already several 
months into the financial year. 

It is our view that the association of financial adjustments to wider contract change leads to 
a drawn-out process: as expected GPC Wales will negotiate strongly against inadequately 
resourced contractual changes that would worsen pressures upon our members. Ultimately, 
these delays create great uncertainty for practices and their employed salaried GPs and 
wider practice staff.  

On successful conclusion of the 2024/25 contract negotiations, Welsh Government 
commitment to beginning 2025/26 negotiations as early as possible, potentially in advance 
of a settled budget position. This has commenced, with a request from Welsh Government 
to exchange mandates by 15 April 2025. 

Information regarding current and past Welsh GMS contract agreements can be found at: 
bma.org.uk/pay-and-contracts/contracts#:~:text=BMA%20guidance-,GP%20contract,-
Guidance%20on%20the  
  

Tudalen y pecyn 51

http://www.bma.org.uk/pay-and-contracts/contracts#:~:text=BMA%20guidance-,GP%20contract,-Guidance%20on%20the
http://www.bma.org.uk/pay-and-contracts/contracts#:~:text=BMA%20guidance-,GP%20contract,-Guidance%20on%20the


  
 

Page 34 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

Annex B: Extracts from recent BMA Sessional GP survey regarding 
underemployment and unemployment 

 

Please provide us with more information regarding the impact, if any, that the reduced 
availability of GP work has had on your personal health and wellbeing? 

45 comments received 

Constant worry of finances as main earner in family 

Constantly feel stressed about work availability and impact on financial security . Affects 
mood and sleep considerably 

Worry about money/finances, unable to pay for private IVF, very emotional at lifelong 
impact of this 

Very anxious about not working (and) losing my licence. 

The knowledge that I have no permanent income, and that OOH/locum work is in higher 
demand, making it almost impossible for newly qualified GPs to work, has given me an 
overall much higher level of background stress. I have considered retraining in a different 
specialty to secure income. I have been unable to buy a house as I am constantly worried 
that I will be without income. 

I developed gastrointestinal problems due to persistent stress and worry. I am looking at 
moving abroad. 

There is a level of underlying stress and anxiety about job security and finances especially 
as we have a baby in childcare which costs a lot. Considering whether or not we can 
afford to have a second child is not something I thought I would have to do as a GP 

Loss of self-worth having never been unable to work since graduation nearly 40 years ago 

I feel ashamed having to counsel patients about importance of their better lifestyle 
choices and at the same time finishing the days with feeling that in order to fulfil my most 
important duties there is no time left for my personal physical activity, fitness or time to 
relax other than eat and sleep 

I’m feeling pretty burned out. I’m worrying about the future and worrying about my 
pension. My partner is ill and I am the sole breadwinner. What I thought was a safe and 
well-respected career, turns out not to be. I am that demoralised, when asked by younger 
people about becoming a Dr or GP, I cannot recommend it at all. It feels very much that 
we are no longer required by health boards or the NHS. 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 52



  
 

Page 35 of 35 

 

Sensitivity: General 

Sensitivity: General 

 

Please provide us with information regarding what you believe is causing or 
contributing to this unemployment and underemployment crisis for GPs? 

58 comments received 

Underfunding of general practice, secondary care failing to see and manage patients 
meaning GP is an awful job and you are broken after a couple of days work. Practices 
can’t afford to employ more people, and young trainees are not prepared to take on work 
beyond that contracted and this doesn’t meet demand 

Extreme lack of funding. So many surgeries would employ more GPs, but they can't afford 
to. I was working at a surgery on a 12-month contract that they were hoping to make 
permanent but could not be due to finances. So that role ended in March 24. This left us 
in a financial mess because finding other work around childcare was extremely difficult. 

In Wales practice budgets are really stretched and they are making do with as few staff as 
possible  

My old practice has gone from 1 GP to 1400 patients to 1 GP for 1800 patients 

I think it is the general squeeze on practice finances and individual GPs pay. I do know of 
GPs who work maybe 3 days as a partner in their practice now taking on a regular day on 
a contract in a health board run practice for an extra day a week. 

The financial crisis affecting GP surgeries. All partners are losing money, so they are doing 
locums and working OOH too so less work for locums. Surgeries cannot afford to employ 
locum and salaried GPs and just accepting that they will provide reduced medical cover. I 
am fortunate to be working in a teaching role but that is filled with uncertainty due to 
financial crisis affecting UK universities. 

In my experience I sometimes feel that being a woman with childcare responsibilities 
reduces my opportunities to get a GP locum or salaried post.  

Total undervaluation and underinvestment in general practice. We aren’t valued or paid 
appropriately for our expertise  

Terrible working conditions in General Practice are nearly as important as remuneration. 
Over the course of a long career as a GP I have worked as a partner, salaried GP, locum GP 
and out-of-hours GP. As a partner the main issue was workload. As a salaried GP both 
workload and remuneration were problematic. The workload issues have forced many 
GPs into locum work, as this is currently the only way to have control over one's 
workload. 

Governments have no real plan, they have no understanding of the issue 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 53



Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 
Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru 
 Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Peter Fox AS 
Cadeirydd  
Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 

seneddhealth@senedd.cymru 

 23 Mehefin 2025 

Annwyl Peter, 

Rwy’n ysgrifennu i roi gwybodaeth ychwanegol i'r Pwyllgor yn dilyn y sesiwn dystiolaeth ar 

gyfer gofal llygaid a gynhaliwyd ar 5 Mehefin. Gofynnodd y Pwyllgor am y canlynol: 

1. Diweddariad ar yr amserlen o ran casgliadau adolygiad Coleg Brenhinol

yr Offthalmolegwyr, yn dilyn pryderon diogelwch mewn perthynas â dirywiad maciwlaidd 

sy'n gysylltiedig ag oedran ym Mwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Caerdydd a’r Fro. 

Nid yw Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Caerdydd a'r Fro wedi cael adroddiad terfynol yr adolygiad 

eto, a gynhaliwyd y llynedd i edrych ar ddirywiad maciwlaidd sy'n gysylltiedig ag oedran. 

Mae wedi ymrwymo i rannu'r adroddiad gyda Llywodraeth Cymru, ac i weithio gyda Thîm 

Perfformiad a Gwella GIG Cymru i wneud unrhyw welliannau angenrheidiol i’r 

gwasanaethau yng ngoleuni'r casgliadau. 

2. Darparu data a manylion ar lefelau darparu sgiliau uwch ar gyfer optometryddion.

Dyrannodd Cynllun Comisiynu Addysg a Hyfforddiant 2025-26 £0.658m i gynyddu 

cyfleoedd i optometryddion ddarparu gwasanaethau estynedig, wedi'u halinio â nod 

Llywodraeth Cymru yn ei Dull Gweithredu ar gyfer Gwasanaethau Optometreg yn y Dyfodol 

(2022) sydd wedi ei ategu gan ddiwygiadau i'r contract optometreg (2023-24).  

Gwnaed newidiadau i reoliadau (Adolygiad o Addysg a Hyfforddiant GOC 2021) ac addysg 

a hyfforddiant ar gyfer israddedigion ac ôl-raddedigion er mwyn hwyluso ffyrdd newydd o 

weithio, ac i helpu optometryddion sydd newydd gymhwyso i gael sgiliau a chymwysterau  

ychwanegol. 

HSC(6) 60-25 PTN1 

Tudalen y pecyn 54

Eitem 3.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru
mailto:%20Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales
mailto:seneddhealth@senedd.cymru


Mae Addysg a Gwella Iechyd Cymru (AaGIC) yn comisiynu cymwysterau ôl-radd uwch ar 

gyfer optometryddion ac optegwyr cyflenwi sy'n gweithio yng Nghymru. Ers 2021, mae 

AaGIC wedi comisiynu 460 o gymwysterau uwch i alluogi optometryddion i ddatblygu sgiliau 

uwch a chefnogi'r gwaith o ddarparu gofal i gleifion mewn lleoliadau gofal sylfaenol, gan 

leihau'r galw ar wasanaethau arbenigol gofal eilaidd. Nod y cymwysterau uwch hyn yw 

sicrhau bod optometryddion yn meddu ar y sgiliau i ddarparu'r gwasanaethau hyn fel rhan o 

ofal sylfaenol.  

Mae AaGIC yn canolbwyntio ar feysydd o flaenoriaeth uchel, lle mae lefel y galw yn uchel, 

megis glawcoma, rheolaeth o glefyd retina meddygol, a rhagnodi annibynnol. Ar ôl iddynt 

gael y sgiliau uwch hyn, mae'r gweithlu optometreg mewn gofal sylfaenol yn cael effaith 

uniongyrchol ar ofal a chanlyniadau i gleifion, gan alluogi’r claf i gael mynediad at 

wasanaethau’n gyflym ac yn amserol, sef rhywbeth sy'n hanfodol er mwyn lleihau’r 

morbidrwydd hirdymor sy'n gysylltiedig â’r cyflyrau llygaid hyn, sef morbidrwydd nad yw'n 

bosibl adfer ohono'n aml. 

Mae optometryddion yng Nghymru ymhlith y rhai sydd wedi'u hyfforddi i'r lefelau uchaf yn y 

DU. Mae Tabl 1 yn dangos y nifer cynyddol o wasanaethau a hwylusir gan y cymwysterau 

ym mhob bwrdd iechyd. Mae Tabl 2 yn manylu ar argymhellion optometreg pellach y 

cytunwyd arnynt drwy'r Cynllun Comisiynu Addysg a Hyfforddiant 2025-26.   

Tabl 1: Darparu gwasanaethau’n seiliedig ar gymwysterau uwch; cymharu byrddau iechyd 

2021- 2025. 

Byrddau 
Iechyd  
   

Retina 
meddygol/ 
hidlo a 
monitro  

  
  

%  
Cynnydd  

   

Tystysgrif 
Uwch/  
Glawcoma  
(monitro)  

  
  

%  
Cynnydd  

   

Rhagnodi 
Annibynnol  

  
  

%  
Cynnydd  

   2021  2025  2021  2025  2021  2025  

ABUHB  12  22  83.3  1  11  1000  9  22  144.4  

BCUHB  16  37  131.3  1  4  300  5  11  120.0  

CAVUHB  15  22   46.7  5  14  180  7  19  171.4  

CTMUHB  5  8  60.0  8  11  37.5  8  14  75.0  

HDUHB  14  31  121.4  3  15  400  9  25  177.8  

PTB  2   7   250  0   8   800  1   5  400   

SBUHB  6  10  66.7  0  4  400  0  12  1200  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Tudalen y pecyn 55



Tabl 2: Y Cynllun Comisiynu Addysg a Hyfforddiant, AaGIC 2025 i 2026 

Optometreg 
Lleoedd 
hyfforddi 
2025-2026 

Cyd-destun 

Rhagnodi 
Annibynnol 
(Optometryddion)  

22 • Mae’r llwybr Rhagnodi Annibynnol bellach 
ar waith ar draws Cymru gyfan. Mae’n 
galluogi symud cleifion o ofal eilaidd i ofal 
sylfaenol.  

• Y nod yw recriwtio niferoedd cyfartal o’r holl 
fyrddau iechyd er mwyn sicrhau tegwch 
mewn gwasanaethau i gleifion. 

Tystysgrif Uwch 
mewn Rheoli 
Retina Meddygol 
(lefel 7)  

7 • Mae nifer sefydlog o gymwysterau arbenigol 
er mwyn sicrhau bod arbenigedd ar gael ar 
draws Cymru. 

• Oherwydd demograffeg y boblogaeth, mae 
BCUHB, HDUHB ac ABUHB yn cael eu 
ffafrio ar gyfer lleoedd. 

Tystysgrif 
Broffesiynol mewn 
Rheoli Retina 
Meddygol  
(lefel 7) 

14 • Mae llwybr retina meddygol Gwasanaeth 
Offthalmig Cyffredinol newydd Cymru yn 
galluogi symud cleifion o ofal eilaidd i ofal 
sylfaenol. 

• Comisiynir cymwysterau ar draws yr holl 
fyrddau iechyd, gan eu clustnodi ar gyfer 
clystyrau lle mae nifer yr optometryddion 
sy’n meddu ar y cymhwyster yn fach.  

• Oherwydd demograffeg y boblogaeth, mae 
BCUHB, HDUHB ac ABUHB yn cael eu 
ffafrio ar gyfer lleoedd. 

Tystysgrif Uwch 
mewn Glawcoma 
(lefel 7)  

7 • Mae nifer sefydlog o gymwysterau arbenigol 
er mwyn sicrhau bod arbenigedd ar gael ar 
draws Cymru.  

• Oherwydd demograffeg y boblogaeth, mae 
BCUHB, HDUHB ac ABUHB yn cael eu 
ffafrio ar gyfer lleoedd. 

Tystysgrif 
Broffesiynol mewn 
Glawcoma (lefel 7)  

14 

Diploma mewn 
Glawcoma  

7 

Tystysgrif Golwg 
Gwan  

20 • Mae’r gwasanaeth hwn wedi cael ei 
ymestyn i ganiatáu ar gyfer cynnydd yn y 
nifer o bractisau sy’n gallu cynnig 
gwasanaeth Golwg Gwan. 

 

 
Tudalen y pecyn 56



Rwy’n edrych ymlaen ar gael adroddiad y Pwyllgor.  

Yn gywir,  

 
 
Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol  
Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care  

Tudalen y pecyn 57



 

 

10 Gorffennaf 2025 

Annwyl Peter 

Petition P-06-1512 Galw ar Lywodraeth Cymru i gydnabod a mynd i’r afael â’r argyfwng deintyddol 
sy’n wynebu cleifion yng Nghymru 

Cyfarfu’r Pwyllgor Deisebau ar 30 Mehefin a bu’n ystyried y ddeiseb uchod, a gyflwynwyd gan Jamie 
Wake. 

Cytunwyd y dylid cau'r ddeiseb, o ystyried y proffil uchel sydd gan y mater hwn eisoes yn y Senedd. 
Wrth wneud hynny, cytunodd yr Aelodau i dynnu eich sylw chi fel Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Iechyd a 
Gofal Cymdeithasol at y ddeiseb, o ystyried gwaith blaenorol y Pwyllgor ar y mater hwn. 

Mae'r manylion llawn am drafodaeth y Pwyllgor ar y ddeiseb, gan gynnwys yr ohebiaeth a'r camau y 
cytunwyd arnynt gan y Pwyllgor, ar gael yma: P-06-1512 Galw ar Lywodraeth Cymru i gydnabod a 
mynd i’r afael â’r argyfwng deintyddol sy’n wynebu cleifion yng Nghymru.  

Byddwn yn ddiolchgar pe gallech anfon unrhyw ymateb drwy e-bost at y tîm clercio yn 
deisebau@senedd.cymru. 

Yn gywir, 

Carolyn Thomas AS 
Cadeirydd 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
— 
Petitions Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Deisebau@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDeisebau  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
Petitions@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddPetitions 
0300 200 6565 

Peter Fox AS 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 

HSC(6) 60-25 PTN2 

Tudalen y pecyn 58

Eitem 3.2

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=46098
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=46098
mailto:deisebau@senedd.cymru


 

 

11 Gorffennaf 2025 

Annwyl Peter 

Deiseb P-06-1528 Dylid atal cleifion o Bowys a gaiff eu trin mewn ysbytai dros y ffin yn Lloegr rhag 
wynebu amseroedd aros hwy 

Cyfarfu’r Pwyllgor Deisebau ar 30 Mehefin a bu’n ystyried y ddeiseb uchod, a gyflwynwyd gan Joy 
Jones. 

Cytunodd y Pwyllgor i gyfeirio'r ddeiseb at y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol sy'n gyfrifol am 
graffu ar berfformiad a chyllid y GIG, a thrwy wneud hynny i gynnwys yr ohebiaeth gysylltiedig a 
ddaeth i law gan Russell George, yr Aelod o’r Senedd.  

Hefyd, cytunodd y Pwyllgor y dylwn ysgrifennu at Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal 
Cymdeithasol gan ofyn, yng nghyd-destun ei gyhoeddiad y bydd £120 miliwn yn cael ei ddarparu i 
helpu i leihau amseroedd aros, faint o'r apwyntiadau a grybwyllwyd i leihau maint cyffredinol y rhestr 
aros fydd ar gael i gleifion yn ardal Bwrdd Iechyd Addysgu Powys, a sut y bydd y cyllid hwn o fudd i 
gleifion ym Mhowys sydd ar y rhestr aros. 

Penderfynodd y Pwyllgor hefyd i ysgrifennu at Fwrdd Iechyd Addysgu Powys i ofyn pa asesiad a 
wnaed ganddo o effaith y penderfyniad i gymhwyso targedau GIG Lloegr. Cytunwyd y byddai'r 
ddeiseb yn cael ei chau ac y byddai’r ymatebion i ohebiaeth yn cael eu hanfon ymlaen at y Pwyllgor 
Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol. 

Mae'r manylion llawn am drafodaeth y Pwyllgor ar y ddeiseb, gan gynnwys yr ohebiaeth a'r camau y 
cytunwyd arnynt gan y Pwyllgor, ar gael yma: P-06-1528 Dylid atal cleifion o Bowys a gaiff eu trin 
mewn ysbytai dros y ffin yn Lloegr rhag wynebu amseroedd aros hwy. 

Byddwn yn ddiolchgar pe gallech anfon unrhyw ymateb drwy e-bost at y tîm clercio yn 
deisebau@senedd.cymru. 

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
— 
Petitions Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Deisebau@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDeisebau  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
Petitions@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddPetitions 
0300 200 6565 

Peter Fox AS 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 

HSC(6) 60-25 PTN3 

Tudalen y pecyn 59

Eitem 3.3

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=46099
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=46099
mailto:deisebau@senedd.cymru


 

 

Yn gywir, 

 

Carolyn Thomas AS 
Cadeirydd 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Tudalen y pecyn 60



 

 

11 Gorffennaf 2025 

Annwyl Peter 

Deiseb P-06-1488 Sefydlu ‘Cymdeithas Gofal’ i fynd i’r afael â’r argyfwng COVID hir yng Nghymru 

Cyfarfu’r Pwyllgor Deisebau ar 30 Mehefin, a bu’n ystyried y ddeiseb uchod, a gyflwynwyd gan
Elizabeth Trombley. 

Wrth drafod y ddeiseb, nodwyd bod cyfeirio at y materion dan sylw yn rheolaidd yn y Senedd, ond na 
allai'r Pwyllgor Deisebau wneud dim rhagor mewn cysylltiad â hwy. Cytunwyd i anfon yr ymatebion a 
gafwyd ymlaen atoch chi fel Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol, cyn cau'r ddeiseb.   

Mae'r manylion llawn am drafodaeth y Pwyllgor ar y ddeiseb, gan gynnwys yr ohebiaeth a'r camau y 
cytunwyd arnynt gan y Pwyllgor, ar gael yma: P-06-1488 Sefydlu ‘Cymdeithas Gofal’ i fynd i’r afael â’r 
argyfwng COVID hir yng Nghymru.  

Byddwn yn ddiolchgar pe gallech anfon unrhyw ymateb drwy e-bost at y tîm clercio yn 
deisebau@senedd.cymru. 

Yn gywir, 

Carolyn Thomas AS 
Cadeirydd 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Y  P w y llg o r  D e is e b a u  
— 
P e t it io n s  C o m m itte e  

S e n e d d  C y m r u  
B ae C aerdydd , C aerd yd d , C F 99 1S N  

D eisebau @ sen ed d .cym ru  
sen ed d .cym ru /S en ed d D eisebau   

0 30 0  20 0  6 56 5 

— 
W e ls h  P a r lia m e n t  

C ardiff B ay, C ard iff, C F 99 1S N  
P etition s@ sen ed d .w ales  

sen ed d .w ales/S en ed d P etition s  
0 30 0  20 0  6 56 5 

Peter Fox AS 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 

HSC(6) 60-25 PTN4 

Tudalen y pecyn 61

Eitem 3.4

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44780
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44780
mailto:deisebau@senedd.cymru


 

23 Gorffennaf 2025 

Annwyl Ysgrifennydd Cabinet, 

Deiseb P-06-1240 Gwella gwasanaethau iechyd i bobl ag epilepsi sy'n byw yng Nghymru 

Cyfarfu’r Pwyllgor Deisebau ar 14 Gorffennaf a bu’n trafod y ddeiseb uchod, a gyflwynwyd gan Janet 
Paterson. 

Nododd y Pwyllgor y pum cam gweithredu allweddol yr oedd Epilepsy Action Cymru yn gofyn 
amdanynt, a chytunodd y byddwn yn ysgrifennu atoch i ofyn beth yn union sy’n cael ei wneud i fynd 
i'r afael â'r materion hynny ynghylch darparu gwasanaethau epilepsi. Caiff y ddeiseb ei chadw ar agor 
wrth ddisgwyl eich ymateb. 

Mae’r manylion llawn am drafodaeth y Pwyllgor ar y ddeiseb, gan gynnwys yr ohebiaeth a’r camau y 
cytunwyd arnynt gan y Pwyllgor, ar gael yma: P-06-1240 Gwella gwasanaethau iechyd i bobl ag 
epilepsi sy'n byw yng Nghymru 

Byddwn yn ddiolchgar pe gallech anfon unrhyw ymateb drwy e-bost at y tîm clercio yn 
deisebau@senedd.cymru. 

Yn gywir 

Carolyn Thomas AS 
Cadeirydd 

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
— 
Petitions Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Deisebau@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDeisebau  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
Petitions@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddPetitions 
0300 200 6565 

Jeremy Miles AS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 
Llywodraeth Cymru 
Tŷ Hywel 
Bae Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 

Copi at: Peter Fox AS, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal 
 

HSC(6) 60-25 PTN5 

Tudalen y pecyn 62

Eitem 3.5

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=38591&Opt=0
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=38591&Opt=0
mailto:deisebau@senedd.cymru


 

 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Tudalen y pecyn 63



 

 

23 Gorffennaf 2025 

Annwyl Peter 

Deiseb P-06-1505 Adolygu fformiwla Carr Hill yng Nghymru - y system ariannu ar gyfer gofal 
sylfaenol 

Cyfarfu’r Pwyllgor Deisebau ar 14 Gorffennaf a bu’n trafod y ddeiseb uchod, a gyflwynwyd gan 
Matthew Jones. 

Nododd yr Aelodau fod y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol wrthi’n craffu ar y mater fel rhan o'i 
ymchwiliad i ddyfodol meddygaeth deulu yng Nghymru.  

Cytunwyd y byddwn yn ysgrifennu atoch fel Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor i dynnu sylw at yr ohebiaeth 
ynghylch y ddeiseb hon a gofyn am y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am yr amserlenni tebygol ar gyfer 
gwaith yr ymchwiliad hwnnw. Anfonwyd copi o'r llythyr at Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal 
Cymdeithasol iddo fod yn ymwybodol ohono. Cytunodd yr Aelodau y caiff y ddeiseb ei chadw ar 
agor wrth ddisgwyl eich ymateb. 

Mae’r manylion llawn am drafodaeth y Pwyllgor ar y ddeiseb, gan gynnwys yr ohebiaeth a’r camau y 
cytunwyd arnynt gan y Pwyllgor, ar gael yma: Deiseb P-06-1505 Adolygu fformiwla Carr Hill yng 
Nghymru - y system ariannu ar gyfer gofal sylfaenol 

Byddwn yn ddiolchgar pe gallech anfon unrhyw ymateb drwy e-bost at y tîm clercio yn 
deisebau@senedd.cymru. 

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
— 
Petitions Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Deisebau@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDeisebau  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
Petitions@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddPetitions 
0300 200 6565 

Peter Fox AS,  
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 

Copi at: Jeremy Miles AS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 
Llywodraeth Cymru 
Tŷ Hywel 
Bae Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 

HSC(6) 60-25 PTN6 

Tudalen y pecyn 64

Eitem 3.6

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45057
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45130
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45130
mailto:deisebau@senedd.cymru


 

 

Yn gywir 

 

Carolyn Thomas AS 
Cadeirydd 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Tudalen y pecyn 65



1 

Legislative Consent Memorandum for the Terminally Ill 

Adults (End of Life) Bill   

Health and Social Care Scrutiny: Supplementary Evidence 

July 2025  

1. Introduction

Marie Curie retains a neutral position on assisted dying. We neither campaign 

for nor against a change in the law. We were pleased to submit written 

evidence to the Health and Social Care Committee as part of its scrutiny of 

the Legislative Consent Memorandum for the Terminally Ill Adults (End of Life 

Bill (the Bill).  

Since submitting our initial evidence, the Bill has been through report stage 

and passed third reading in the House of Commons. Amendments tabled at 

this stage have given rise to further considerations the committee may wish to 

explore. This supplementary evidence sets out these considerations, which 

relate to Clauses 47 and 50 of the Bill.  

These clauses make a link between evaluation of palliative and end of life 

care and the effective implementation of the Act. In this context, we believe 

there are questions about the appropriateness and effectiveness of the 

clauses as drafted, given that palliative and end of life care in Wales is wholly 

devolved.  

2. Clause 47 – Reporting on the implementation of the Act

2.1. This Clause has the purpose of requiring the Secretary of State to 

review the implementation of the Act within 12 months of the Bill 

becoming law. Reviews of the implementation of the Act would then 

be required at six monthly intervals.  

2.2. The first report under this Clause requires the Secretary of State to set 

out plans for implementing the Act. Of particular relevance is that this 

first report must: 

HSC(6) 60-25 PTN7 

Tudalen y pecyn 66

Eitem 3.7



2 

 

• set out an assessment of the state of health services to persons 

with palliative and end of life care needs and the implications of 

this Act on those services. 

• include an assessment of the availability, quality and distribution 

of appropriate health services to persons with palliative and end 

of life care needs, including - pain and symptom management; 

psychological support for those persons and their families; 

information about palliative care and how to access it.  

3. Clause 50 – Review of the Act  

3.1. This Clause has the purpose of requiring the Secretary of State to 

review the Act five years after the Bill has become law. Akin to the first 

review under Clause 47, this review must: 

• include an assessment of the availability, quality and distribution 

of appropriate health services to persons with palliative and end 

of life care needs, including - pain and symptom management; 

psychological support for those persons and their families; 

information about palliative care and how to access it.  

3.2. Furthermore, this five year review is also required to include: 

• any concerns with the operation of this Act which have been 

raised; 

• the Secretary of State’s response to any such concerns, 

including any recommendations for changes to codes of 

practice, guidance or any enactment (including this Act). 

4. Appropriateness  

4.1. We think the appropriateness of requiring the UK Secretary of State to 

evaluate the delivery and sufficiency of palliative and end of life care 

may need to be explored.  

4.2. Our concern is that without the Welsh Ministers themselves being 

explicitly responsible for the required review of palliative and end of 

life care in Wales, the reports may not present an accurate picture of 

delivery in Wales. It would also be quite unusual for a UK Minister, and 

Parliament, to lead such a formal review of a devolved service, with 

no clear role for the Welsh Ministers.  

4.3. Furthermore, since the Welsh Ministers will be granted some powers 

over the establishment of an assisted dying service, that service may 

well look different in Wales to England. This could also raise questions 

Tudalen y pecyn 67



3 

 

about the appropriateness of the UK Secretary of State being solely 

responsible for reviewing the implementation of the Act in Wales.  

5. Effectiveness  

5.1. Since these reports are to be drafted and responded to by the 

Secretary of State and laid only before Westminster and not the 

Senedd, it may be worth considering whether these clauses will have 

the desired effect in Wales. This is because neither the Secretary of 

State nor Westminster are responsible for palliative and end of life care 

in Wales.  

5.2. This is particularly the case with Clause 50, which at point e requires the 

Secretary of State to respond to any concerns raised in the five year 

report, and include any recommendations for changes to codes of 

practice, guidance or any enactment (including this Act).  

5.3. As the Secretary of State cannot (and should not) directly change or 

direct the delivery of palliative and end of life care in Wales, any 

recommendations related to devolved public services or response to 

the reports would currently have no effect in Wales.  

5.4. Additionally, MSs, who are elected to scrutinise the delivery of health 

services in Wales, have no clear role in scrutinising any reports and 

evaluation of palliative and end of life care, since reports under the Bill 

are only required to be laid before Parliament.  

5.5. As the legislation links evaluation of palliative and end of life care with 

the effective implementation of the Act, if these reports do not include 

input from the Welsh Ministers nor scrutiny by MSs, our concern is that 

there will no direct means through which any issues raised within the 

required evaluations (in relation to devolved services) can be 

addressed. It would be for the Welsh Ministers and Senedd to 

implement any changes to palliative and end of life care in Wales or 

to aspects of any assisted dying services in Wales that have been 

created via regulations.  

6. Conclusion  

As outlined in our initial evidence to the Committee, we believe that it’s 

imperative that accountability for palliative and end of life care in Wales 

remains clear.  

We believe that Clauses 47 and 50 as drafted should be considered within 

this context.  

Tudalen y pecyn 68



4 

 

For more information please contact: 

Natasha Davies 

Senior Policy Manager, Wales 

 

Natasha.davies2@mariecurie.org.uk  

Dr Tomos Evans 

Policy and Public Affairs Manager, Wales 

 

Tomos.Evans@mariecurie.org.uk  

 

 

 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 69

mailto:Natasha.davies2@mariecurie.org.uk
mailto:Tomos.Evans@mariecurie.org.uk


Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 
Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru 
 Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Mike Hedges AS 
Cadeirydd 
Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 
Y Senedd 

SeneddDCC@senedd.cymru 

5 Awst 2025 

Annwyl Mike, 

Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 8 Gorffennaf yn dilyn ymweliad y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, 
Cyfiawnder a'r Cyfansoddiad a'r Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb a Chyfiawnder Cymdeithasol â 
Charchar y Parc. Rwy'n ymateb i'ch cwestiynau gan eu bod yn dod o dan gyfrifoldebau fy 
mhortffolio i. 

Fel Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet, rwy'n gosod y cyfeiriad strategol ar gyfer gwasanaethau iechyd 
a gofal yng Nghymru, gan sicrhau bod GIG Cymru yn atebol am sut y mae'n gweithredu. 
Cyfrifoldeb Ymddiriedolaeth Brifysgol GIG Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Cymru yw 
penderfyniadau gweithredol sy'n ymwneud â chynllunio a darparu gwasanaethau 
ambiwlans brys, yn unol â'r bwriadau comisiynu a osodwyd gan Gyd-bwyllgor Comisiynu 
GIG Cymru. Mae hyn yn cynnwys sicrhau mynediad cyfartal at wasanaethau ambiwlans 
brys. Rwy'n disgwyl i bobl yn y carchar gael ymateb yn seiliedig ar eu hanghenion clinigol, a 
hynny o fewn amserlen briodol, i gefnogi'r canlyniadau gorau posibl.  

Nod Gwasanaeth Ambiwlans Cymru yw ymateb i bob un o'r galwadau 999 cyn gynted â 
phosibl, yn nhrefn blaenoriaeth glinigol. Fodd bynnag, mae adegau pan all lefelau uchel o 
alw neu oedi mewn rhannau eraill o'r system olygu nad oes ambiwlans ar gael ar unwaith, 
bob amser i ymateb i alwad 999. Gall hyn arwain at rai galwadau eraill yn aros yn hirach 
nag y byddem fel arfer yn ei ddisgwyl. 

Ar 30 Mehefin, cyhoeddais y bydd y gwasanaeth ambiwlans yn treialu newidiadau i'w fodel 
ymateb clinigol o 1 Gorffennaf ymlaen. Nod y newidiadau hyn yw achub mwy o fywydau, a 
gwella canlyniadau i bobl ar ôl ataliad y galon, salwch difrifol, digwyddiad neu ddamwain.  

Mae'r model newydd hefyd yn cyflwyno proses sgrinio clinigol cyflym ar gyfer galwadau 
999, a gynhelir gan uwch-barafeddyg neu nyrs yn syth ar ôl yr asesiad cychwynnol gan y 
swyddog trin galwadau 999. Mae cyflwyno proses sgrinio yn galluogi dull sydd wedi'i 
deilwra'n well i anghenion unigolyn yn seiliedig ar ei gyflwr. Bydd hefyd yn helpu i sicrhau 

HSC(6) 60-25 PTN8 

Tudalen y pecyn 70

Eitem 3.8

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru
mailto:%20Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales
mailto:SeneddDCC@senedd.cymru
https://www.llyw.cymru/datganiad-ysgrifenedig-fframwaith-perfformiad-newydd-ar-gyfer-y-gwasanaeth-ambiwlans-thasglu


bod adnoddau hanfodol y gwasanaeth ambiwlans brys ar gael i ymateb i bobl sydd fwyaf 
mewn angen.  
 
Yn dilyn y newidiadau hyn, ar 16 Gorffennaf, cyhoeddais newidiadau ychwanegol i'r 
fframwaith perfformiad ar gyfer y gwasanaeth ambiwlans brys i sicrhau dull sy'n 
canolbwyntio ar ganlyniadau ym mhob cyswllt â Gwasanaeth Ambiwlans Cymru. Mae hyn 
yn cyd-fynd â'n strategaeth gyffredinol ar gyfer gofal brys ac argyfwng yng Nghymru, er 
mwyn galluogi'r gofal cywir, yn y lle iawn, y tro cyntaf.  
 
Mae'r lefel uchel barhaus o oedi wrth drosglwyddo cleifion o ambiwlansys mewn adrannau 
achosion brys yn effeithio ar allu Gwasanaeth Ambiwlans Cymru i ymateb i alwadau 999 yn 
y gymuned. Rwy'n disgwyl i'r byrddau iechyd gyflwyno'r Canllawiau ar Drosglwyddo Cleifion 
o Ambiwlansys – sef un o'r pum blaenoriaeth ('cam gweithredu galluogi') ar gyfer gofal brys 
ac argyfwng yn fframwaith cynllunio'r GIG ar gyfer 2025/2026. 
 
Er mwyn cefnogi'r gwaith o gyflawni model ymateb esblygol y gwasanaeth ambiwlans, sy'n 
seiliedig ar nifer uwch o ambiwlansys ar gael drwy lif cleifion gwell, rydym wedi sefydlu 
Tasglu Trosglwyddo Cenedlaethol newydd o dan arweiniad clinigol. Bydd y tasglu yn nodi 
ac yn goruchwylio camau gweithredu i wella perfformiad trosglwyddo, gan ddysgu o arferion 
gorau ledled y DU ac yn rhyngwladol.  
 
Yn galonogol, rydym eisoes wedi gweld strategaethau lleol i wella perfformiad o ran 
trosglwyddo cleifion o ambiwlansys yn dwyn ffrwyth dros yr wythnosau diwethaf, sydd wedi 
gwella ymatebolrwydd ambiwlansys. Yn ardal Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Cwm Taf Morgannwg, 
collwyd 33% yn llai o oriau ambiwlans, a phrofodd 69% yn llai o gleifion oedi o fwy nag awr 
o'i gymharu â mis Mehefin 2024. Roedd y perfformiad o ran trosglwyddo cleifion o fewn 15 
munud yn 47% ac rydym yn disgwyl gweld hyn yn gwella. Bydd y dull sy'n gyfrifol am y 
llwyddiannau cychwynnol hyn yn cael ei rannu gyda'r holl fyrddau iechyd. 
 
Efallai y bydd y pwyllgor yn dymuno cyfeirio ei gwestiynau penodol am amseroedd ymateb 
ambiwlansys i alwadau yng Ngharchar y Parc at Ymddiriedolaeth Brifysgol GIG 
Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Cymru.  

O ran materion yn ymwneud â rhagnodi, mae disgwyl i fferyllfeydd carchardai gydymffurfio 
â'r safonau proffesiynol ar gyfer optimeiddio meddyginiaethau i bobl mewn amgylcheddau 
diogel, fel y'u disgrifir gan y Gymdeithas Fferyllol Frenhinol. Cynhelir adolygiad allanol o 
berfformiad pob carchar yng Nghymru yn erbyn y safonau hyn. Mae'r byrddau iechyd wedi 
llunio cynlluniau gweithredu mewn ymateb i ganfyddiadau'r adolygiad allanol ac maent yn 
gweithio i weithredu'r argymhellion.  
 
 
Yn gywir,  
 

 
 
 
Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol  
Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care  

Tudalen y pecyn 71

https://www.llyw.cymru/datganiad-ysgrifenedig-newidiadau-pellach-ir-fframwaith-perfformiad-ar-gyfer-y-gwasanaeth-ambiwlans
https://www.llyw.cymru/sites/default/files/publications/2024-10/canllawiau-ar-drosglwyddo-cleifion-o-ambiwlansys-2024.pdf
https://www.llyw.cymru/sites/default/files/publications/2024-10/canllawiau-ar-drosglwyddo-cleifion-o-ambiwlansys-2024.pdf
https://www.rpharms.com/Portals/0/RPS%20document%20library/Open%20access/Professional%20standards/Optimising%20medicines%20in%20secure%20environments/Professional%20Standards%20Secure%20Environments-edition-2.pdf?ver=2017-05-18-112406-223
https://www.rpharms.com/Portals/0/RPS%20document%20library/Open%20access/Professional%20standards/Optimising%20medicines%20in%20secure%20environments/Professional%20Standards%20Secure%20Environments-edition-2.pdf?ver=2017-05-18-112406-223

	Agenda
	2 Ymchwiliad i ddyfodol meddygaeth deulu yng Nghymru: sesiwn dystiolaeth
	Papur 1 – Coleg Brenhinol yr Ymarferwyr Cyffredinol Cymru (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur 2 – Cymdeithas Feddygol Prydain (Cymru) (Saesneg yn unig)

	3.1 Gwybodaeth ychwanegol gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol ynghylch yr ymchwiliad i Wasanaethau Offthalmoleg yng Nghymru
	3.2 Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deisebau ynghylch deiseb: P-06-1512 – Galw ar Lywodraeth Cymru i gydnabod a mynd i’r afael â’r argyfwng deintyddol sy’n wynebu cleifion yng Nghymru
	3.3 Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deisebau ynghylch deiseb: P-06-1528 - Dylid atal cleifion o Bowys a gaiff eu trin mewn ysbytai dros y ffin yn Lloegr rhag wynebu amseroedd aros hwy
	3.4 Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deisebau ynghylch deiseb: P-06-1488 – Sefydlu ‘Cymdeithas Gofal’ i Fynd i’r Afael â’r Argyfwng COVID Hir yng Nghymru
	3.5 Llythyr gan Gadeirydd Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol at Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deiseb ynghylch deiseb: P-06-1240 – Gwella gwasanaethau iechyd i bobl ag epilepsi sy'n byw yng Nghymru
	3.6 Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deisebau ynghylch deiseb: P-06-1505 – Adolygu Fformiwla Carr Hill yng Nghymru - y system ariannu ar gyfer gofal sylfaenol
	3.7 Tystiolaeth atodol gan Marie Curie ynghylch y Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol ar y Bil Oedolion Terfynol Sâl (Diwedd Oes) (Saesneg yn unig)
	3.8 Ymateb gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol i Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a'r Cyfansoddiad ynghylch ymweliad â Charchar y Parc ym mis Mehefin 2025



